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DAIWA WORLD FUND SERIES

Daiwa Blackstone Private Credit Fund

Annual Report and Audited Financial Statements for the year ended
31 December 2024

Statement of Assets and Liabilities

As at
Note 31 December 2024
LsD
Assets
Cash and cash equivakents 4 17,203,940
Investments., at fair value (cost: USS696,673.626) b TO4. 490,207
Receivable fromunderlymg fund 11,894,143
Subscriptions receivable 281,578,296
Dividends receivable 6,198,527
Total Assets 1.021,365,113
Liahilities
Distrbution payable 9,750,503
Redemptions payable 6,252,061
Distribution fees payable 3 907,902
Administration fees payable 3 747,160
Services nanagement fees pavable 3 324,251
[nvestment management foes payable 3 250,401
Management fees payable 3 206,497
Agent company fees payable 129,700
Professional fees pavable 3 58,796
Trustce fees pavable 3 HAle
Audit fees payable 3353
Accrmeed expenses 25,029
Total liahilities 18.729.250
Netassets 1.002,635.863

The financial statements and related notes set out on pages 12 to 23 were approved by the Manager and Trustee of Damwa
Blackstone Private Credit Fund on 29 May 2025 and signed on its behalf by:

s

c =Ll A
lle Daquis and Ronnie Cuthbert

On behalf of the Trustee

Paul\O"Shea
On behalf of the Manager

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

7
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DAIWA WORLD FUND SERIES

Daiwa Blackstone Private Credit Fund

Annual Report and Audited Financial Statements for the year ended
31 December 2024

Statement of Operations

Investment income
Dwvidend income (net of withholding tax of LISS437 983)
Total inves tment income

Expenses

Distribution fecs

Services management fees
Investment management fees
Agent company fees
Administration fees
Management fees
Trustee fees

Professional fees

Audit fees

Custodian fees

Other fees

Total expenses

Met investment income

Met realised gain and change in unrealised depreciation on inves tments
Net realised gain on investments

Net change in unrealised depreciation on myvestments

Net realised gain and unrealised depreciation on investments

Met increase in net assets resulting from operations

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

9
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For the yvear ended
31 December 2024
usD

Note

57.208,337
57,298,357

4214510
1,505,182
1,204,146
602073
538,489
361.244
65,604
59,747
30,882
30303
104,541
B.716,721

i

lad Ted lad Lad

48.581.636

131,248
(597.400)

(466.103)

48,115,533
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DAITWA WORLD FUND SERIES

Daiwa Blackstone Private Credit Fund

Annual Report and Audited Financial Statements for the year ended
31 December 2024

Statement of Changes in Net Assets

Met asscts at beginning of the vear
Met morease in net assets resulting from operations

Distribution to Unitholder
Distribution from net investment mcome

Total distribution to Unitholder
Unit Transactions

Issue of Unis

Redemption of Units
Redemption fee incom:

MNet increase in net assets resulting from Unitholder transactions

Met assets at end of the vear

For the yvear ended
31 December 2024
Lsn

461,388,891

48,115,533

(47,511,787}

(47.511.787)

S51.ET4.805
(11,276,864)
45,285

540,643,226

1,002,635863

The accompanying notes form an imegral part of the financial statements,

10
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DAIWA WORLD FUND SERIES

Daiwa Blackstone Private Credit Fund

Annual Report and Audited Financial Statements for the year ended
31 December 2024

Statement of Cash flow

Cash Nows for operating activities
Net inerease in nel assels resulting from operations

Adjustments to reconcile net increase in net assets resulting from

operations to net cash used in operating activities
Purchases of investments in securitics

Sale of investments in securitics

Net realised gain on investments

Met change in unrealised depreciation on investments

Change in operating assets and liabilities
Increase in receivable from underlying fund
Increase in dividend receivable

Increase in distribution fees payable

Inerease in administration fees payable
Increase in services management fees pavable
Increase in investment management fees pavable
Increase in management fees pavable
Increase in agent company fees payable
Increase in professional fees pavable

Increase in trustee fees payable

Inerease in audit fees payable

Decrease in accrued expenses

Net cash used in operating activities

Cash Mlows from financing activities
Issue of Units, net of subscriptions receivable

For the vear ended
31 December 2024
LS

48,115,533

(336,000,000
11,334,580
(131,298)
597,401

(1.814.313)
(2.826,483)
426,330
538,490
152,261
121,809
78,370
60,904
33,128
13,062
1,941
(1,41%)
(279,299,703)

340,422,729

Redemption of Units, net of redemptions payable and redemption fee income {15.049.856)

Distribution to Unitholder, net of distribution payable
Met cash provided by financing activities

Change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the vear
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the vear

Summary of cash and cash equivalents
Money market funds

(43,304,524)
282,068,349

2,768,646
14,435,294
17,203,940

17,203,940

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements,
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Daiwa Blackstone Private Credit Fund

Annual Report and Aundited Financial Statements for the vear ended
31 December 2024

Notes to the Finanecial Statements

1. Organisation

Daiwa World Fund Series (the “Trust™) is an open ended umbrelia unit trust established by a Declaration of Trust (the
“Trust Deed™) dated 2 March 2023, under the laws of the Cayman Islands. The Trust has been established as an umbrella
unit trust. Daiwa Blackstone Private Credit Fund (the “Series Trust™) launched on 2 March 2023 and comprises of units of
the Trust cstablished in accordance with the Trust Deed and constitutes a series tust of the Trust. The Series Trust
commenced its operations on 31 May 2023, The Trust is registered under Section 4(1)(b) of The Mutual Funds Act {2021
Revision) of the Cayman Islands and as such is regulated in accordance with such act.

The Trust has been established as an umbrella unit trust, A separate portfolio or Series Trust can be created and established
1o which assets and habihities attinbutable 1o the relevant Senies Trust will be apphied. Umits relating exclusively 1o each
Series Trust will be issued, The details specific to cach Series Trust will be set forth in a separate appendix to the Offering
Memorandum, These fnancial statements pertain exclusively to the Serics Trust.

The Trust Deed is governed by the laws of the Cayman Islands, All Unitholders are entitled to the benefit of, are bound by,
and are deemed to have notice of, the terms of the Trust Deed and any trust deed supplemental thereto. In the event of any
conflict between: (a) the terms of the Offering Memorandum and the relevant Appendix relating to a Series Trust: and (b)
the terms of the Trust Deed and the supplemental trust deed relating to such Series Trust, the terms of the latter documents
will prevail.

The Series Trust has a sole Unitholder - Daiwa Securities Co. Lid.. As at 31 December 2024, Daiwa Securities Co. Lid.
owned 100% of the Units in Serics Trust,

The investment objective of the Series Trust 15 to generate current income and to a lesser extent, long term capital
appreciation. The Series Trust will seek to achieve this investment objective through investing substantially 21l of its assets
in Class T Underlying Fund units issued by the Blackstone Private Credit Fund, a Delaware Statutory Trust formed on 11
February 2020 and structured as a non-diversified, closed-end management investment company (the “Underlying Fund™),

10 EQ Fund Management (Ireland) Limited is the Manager and is responsible under the Series Trust Deed for the
management of the investment and re-investment of the assets of each Series Trust, the exercise of the power to borrow
money in respect of each Series Trust and for the issue and repurchase of units of each Series Trust,

Daiwa Asset Management (Europe) Lid s the Investment Manager and is responsible for managing the investment and
reinvestment of the assets of the Series Trast,

CIBC Caribbean Bank and Trust Company (Cayman) Limited (formerly known as FirstCaribbean International Bank and
Trust Company {(Cayman) Limited) is the Trustee of the Trust and the Series Trust.

The Bank of New York Mellon is the Administrator of the Series Trust pursuant to the Servicing Agreement with the
Trustee and carries out the day-to-day administration of the Series Trust.
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Annual Report and Audited Financial Statements for the yvear ended
31 December 2024

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

2. Significant Accounting Policies

1.1  Basis of Preparation

These annual awdited financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2024 have been prepared in
accordance with accounting principles in the United States of America (“US GAAP”). This Series Trust also fallows the
accounting and reporting guidance in Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASBE™) Accounting Standards Codification
946 “Financial Services - fnvestment Companies™,

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect certain
amounts reported in the financial statements. Although these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of
current events and actions, actual resulis may differ from those estimates and the difference could be material.

2.2 Investments at Fair Value through Profit or Loss
All instruments classified at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value with changes in their fair value
recognised in the Statement of Operations,

Purchases and sales of investments are recognised on a trade date basis - the date on which ihe Series Trust commils o
purchase or sell the asset.

The Series Trust derccognises a inancial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the inancial asset expire
or it transfers the financial asset and the transfer qualifies for derccognition in accordance with gencrally accepted
accounting principles. A financial liability is derccogniscd when the obligation specified in the comtract is discharged,
cancelled or has expired.

2.3 Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash represents cash on hand, demand deposits held w0 financial institutions, Cash equivalents include short-term, highly
liquid imvestments of sufficiemt credit quality that are readily convertible 1o known amounts of cash and have original
mturitics of three months or less. Cash equivalents are carmied at cost, plus accrued interest, which approximates fair value,
Cash equivalents are held 1o meet short-term liquidity requirements, rather than for investiment purposes. Cash and cash
cquivalents are held at major financial institutions and are subject to credit nsk o the extent those balances exceed
applicable Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC™) or Sccuritics Investor Protection Corporation (YSIPC™)
limitations.

2.4 Subscriptions Receivable and Redemptions Pavahle

Subscriptions receivable and redemptions payable represent receivables for issue of units and payables for redemption of
umits that have been contracted for but not ver delivered by the financial vear end. Redemptions and issues paid after the
financial year end, but based vpon fmancial year end net asset values, are reflected as subsenptions receivable and
redemptions payable in the Statement of Assets and Liabilities as at 31 December 2024,

2.5  Expenses
Expenses are accounted for on an accruals basis.

26 Investments

The Series Trust records its investment in the Underlying Fund at fair value based on the Series Trust's propontionate share
of its interest in the net assets of the Underlying Fund. Investments held in the Underlying Fund is valued using net asset
value (the “NAV™), as a practical expedient.

The value assigned to the Series Trust's investment in the Underlying Fund is based on available information and does not
necessarily represent the amount that might ultimately be reahised, as such amount depends on future circumstances and
cannot reasonably be determined until the Underlying Fund investment is liguidated.
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3 December 2024

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

2. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

2.7  Realised and Unrealised Gains and Losses

All realised and unrealised gains and losses arising during the financial vear are included in the Statement of Operations in
arriving at the increase in net assets from operations for the financial year. In accordance with the Series Trust Deed net
realised and unrealised gains on invesiments are not available for distribution. Realised gains and losses on investment
transactions are determined using cost caleulated on average cost basis.

2.8 Distribution to Unitholder

The Manager (in consultation with the trusiee) may, from time to time, declare distributions (only in cash) out of net income
attributable to such Units and out of the capital of the Trust fund of the Series Trust attributable 1o such Units. Refer note 11
for declaration of distribution to Unitholder after the vear end,

1.9  Functional and Presentational Currency
The functional currency of the Series Trust is US dollars, which reflects the fact that the majority of the Series Trust’s
investments are in US dollars. The presentation currency is US dolfars (“"USD™).

Foreign currency transachions are translated into the functional curreney using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates off
the tramsactions, Forcign cxchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the
translation 2t financial vear end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in forcign currencics are
recognised in the Statement of Operations,

.10 Organisational Costs

Organisational costs consist of preliminary costs in connection with the formation of the Trust and Series Trust. For net
asset value calculation purposes. costs relating to the printing and distribution of the principal documents and related
marketing material, legal costs of the Series Trust pertaining to the preparation of principal documents are being amortised
durimg the first five years of operation. For financial statement purposes, in conformity with US GAAP, the organisational
costs were expensed fully in the first year of operation.

L11  Receivable from the Underlyving Fund
Receivable from the Underlying Fund represents amount receivable for transactions comtracted for but not vet delivered at
the end of the financial vear. These amounts are included in the Statement of Assets and Liabilities,

3. Significant Agreements and Transactions with Affiliates

Manager

10 EQ Fund Management (Ireland) Limited is the Manager of the Series Trust. The Manager is entitled to receive, out of
the assets of the Series Trust a fee at the rate of 0.06% per annum of the NAV, payable monthly in arrears (the initial
monthly calculation period commences on and includes the date of the Series Trust’s establishment) and subject to a
monthly minimum fee of USDT7,000.

Dwring the financial year, the Series Trust incurred management fees of USD361,244 of which USD206,497 was unpaid at
the financial vear end.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

'3!

intes (continued)

Trustee

CIBC Canbbean Bank and Trust Company (Cavman) Limited (formerly known as FirstCanbbean International Bank and
Trust Company (Cayman) Linuted) act as Trustee 1o the Senes Trust, In accordance with the Offering Memaorandum and
Appendix to the Series Trust, the Trustee will be entitled to receive, out of the assets of the Senes Trust, a trusiee fee at the
rate of 0.01% per annum of the NAV of the Series Trust, subject to a minimum fee of USD1 5,000 per annum, acerued on
and caleulated as at cach Valuation Day and payable quanterly in amears (the initial quarterly caleulation period commences
on and includes the date the of the Senies Trust's establishment),

The Trustee shall, in addition, be reimbursed for all proper and reasonable out-of-pocket expenses of the Trustee payable
out of the assets of the Series Trust.

During the fimancial vear, the Seéries Trust incurred trustee fees of USDG5,604 of which USD34,416 was unpaid at the
financial vear end.

Administrator

The Bank of New York Mellon has been appointed Administrator to the Series Trust. The Administrator will be entitled 10
receive out of assets of the Series Trust, a fee of 0.0575 - 0.095% per annum of NAV accrued on and caleulated as at cach
valuation day subject to an annual mininmum fee of USD95,000. Furthermore, the fees for any additional services as agreed
between the Trustee, the Manager and the Administrator, from time to time, will be payable out of the assets of the Series
Trust. These fees are payable on a monthly basis and do not include any transaction related fees or reasonable out of pocket
CXPENSCs.

During the financial year, the Series Trost incurred administration fees of USDS3R 489 of which USD747,160 was unpaid
at the financial vear end.

Investment Manager

The Manager has delegated to Daiwa Assel Management (Europe) Lid the Manager’s responsibility to manage the
investment and reinvestment of the assets of the Series Trust. The Investment Manager will be entitled to receive out of the
assets of the Series Trust a fee at the rate of 0.20% per annum of NAV acerued on and calculated as at each valuation day
and payable monthly in arrears.

During the financial vear, the Series Trust incurred investment management fees of USD1, 204,146 of which USD239.401
was unpaid at the financial year end.

Legal Advisers

Morn Hamada & Matsumoto acts as Legal Adviser to the Series Trust in Japan and is responsible for providing discretionary
legal advice to the Series Trust. Maples and Calder (Singapore) LLP acts as Legal Adviser to the Series Trust in Cayman
Islands and is responsible for providing diseretionary legal advice to the Series Trust, Maples and Calder (Ireland) LLP acts
as Legal Adviser to the Series Trust in Ireland and is responsible for providing discretionary legal advice to the Series Trust,

During the financial vear, the Series Trust incurred legal advisor fees of USD59.747 of which USDSE,796 was unpaid at the
financial year end.

Management Service Providing Company

The Manager has appointed Daiwa Assct Management Co. Ltd. to act as the Management Service Providing Company. The
Manager Support Service Provider will be entitled to receive out of the assets of the Serigs Trust, a fee of 0.25% per annum
of the NAV acerued on and caleulated as at each valuation day and payable monthly in arrears.

During the financial year, the Series Trust incurred services management fees of USD1,505,182 of which USD324,251
was unpaid at the financial year end.

147/344



EDINETOOOO
OO0O00OO00o0DO000DO000D00o0bDO000DOoOdnoo(esss30)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

DAIWA WORLD FUND SERIES

Daiwa Blackstone Private Credit Fund

Annual Report and Audited Financial Statements for the year ended
31 December 2024

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

3. Significant Apreements and Transactions with Affiliates {continued)

Distributor
The Distributor will be entitled o receive ot of the assets of the Series Trust, a fee of 0.70% per annum of the NAY
acerued on and caleulated as at cach valuation day and pavable monthly in arrears,

During the financial year, the Series Trust incurred distribution fees of USD4.214,510 of which USD907.902 was unpaid at
the financial year end.
4. Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are held with The Bank of New York Mellon at financial vear end as follows:

31 December 2024
LsD

Money market funds 17,203,940
17.203.940

A, Linits in Issue and NAY Per Unit
31 December 2024

Units in issue as a1 01 January 2024 4417971
Issue of units 5257301
Redenption of units (107.435)
Units m ssue as at 3] December 2024 9567837
NAV per Unit as at 31 December 2024 UsSDI4.T9

Voting rights

The Trustee or the Manager shall when required o do so by the terms and provisions of the Trust Deed, at the wrillen
request of the other, or at the request in writing of Unitholders registered as holding in aggregate not less than one-tenth of
the units for the time being in issue of the Trust, a Serics Trust or a elass of units of a Series Trust {as relevant) convene a
meeting of Unitholders of the Trust, the relevant Series Trust or the relevant class of a Series Trust (as the case may be) at
such time and place specified in the notice convening such meeting, and the provisions of schedule | to the Trust Deed shall

apply o that meeting. When the Trustee or the Manager determines that a mecting of Unitholders is necessary or
appropriate, a mecting shall be called by at least 10 ¢lear days notiee to the Unitholders of the Trust or relevant Series Trust
or the class of the relevant Series Trust, The notice shall specify the time, date and place of the meeting and the terms of any
resolution to be proposed at the meeting, The record date for the meeting shall also be speeified in the notice. The accidental
omission (o give notice o, or the nonreceipt of notice by, any Umitholder conceming any meeting shall not invalidate the
procecdings at that meeting. Any authonsed representative of the Trustee or the Manager 15 entitled o attend and speak at
any mecting, Save where there is only one Unitholder (in which case the quorum for any mecting is ong), the gquorum for
any mecting shall be at least two Unitholders together holding at least one-tenth of the total NAV of the total units of the
Trust or the Series Trust or the class (as the case may be) for the tme being i issue,

Any resolution put 1o a vole at a meeting shall be decided by a pell, which shall be taken in writing and, if the resolution is
approved by the requisite majority for a Series Trust resolution or a Unitholder's resolution (as the case may be), the result
of the poll shall be the resolution of the meeting. Any caleulations concermning Unitholder’s reselutions, Series Trust
resolutions, voles or quorum shall use the NAY at the time of the relevant record date (but if the record date is not a
valuation day, then the calculations shall use the valvation day immediately preceding the record date). On a poll voles may
be given either personally or by proxy.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

A, Linits in Issue and NAY Per Lnit (continued)
Initial Subscriptions

LUmits are available for subscription by eligible investors during the initial offer period at the issue price. Units subscribed
for during the initial offer period will be issued on the initial closing date. The minimum aggregate subscriptions for units
during the initial offer peried is 300 units with any excess thereof in imegral multiples of | unit or such other number of
units as the manager may determine.

Subsequent Subscriptions

Following the initial closing date, units of each class of units will be available for subscription by eligible investors on each
subscription day except as described in the section of the offering memorandum headed “suspension of calculation of
NAVT al a price equal o the NAV per unit of the applicable class of units on the valuation day falling on the relevant
subscription day. The minimum aggregaic subscription for units for subsequent subscriptions is 500 units, with any cxcess
thereof in integral multiples of | unit or such other number of units as the manager may determine,

Redemptions

The units of the Series Trust are redeemable at the option of the Unitholder on cach repurchase day being the last calendar
day in cach calendar quarter, namely 31 March, 30 June, 30 Scprember and 31 December, commencing from 31 December
2023 and/or such other day or days as the Manager may from time to time determine, at the repurchase price, provided that
the repurchase notice has been received by the Administrator no later than Spm ( Tokyo time) on a business day that falls al
least one month prior 1o the relevant repurchase day, or such other time as the Manager may, in any particular case,
determine, failing which the repurchase will be held over for the next fallowing relevant repurchase day and units will be
repurchased at the repurchase price applicable on that repurchase day.

A redemption fee of 0.3% of the Repurchase Price will be payvable for such repurchases submitted by the Unitholder which
will be retmined for the benefit of the Series Trust.

Termination
Unless otherwise provided in the relevant appendix relating to the relevant Series Trust, a Series Trust will be terminated on
the happening of the first to occur of any of the following events:

{a) the Trustee or the Manager certifying to the Unitholder that it has become illegal, impractical, uncconomic,
inadvisable or contrary to the interests of the Unitholder to continue the Series Trust including, without limitation,
where the Manager determines that it is no longer possible for the Series Trust to achieve its invesiment objective:

ib) all its units having been repurchased;

fc) if the Trustee gives writlen notice of ils intention o retire and be discharged from each Series Trust or ils going
into liquidation and the Manager is unable to appoint a new trustee in its place in accordance with the terms of the
Trust Deed and the Trustee issucs a certificate declaring the termination of each Series Trust;

{d) if the Manager shall give notice of retirement or resignation under the terms of the Trust Deed and no suceessor
manager shall have been appointed within 90 days of the notice:

{e) if the Manager is removed by the Trustee under the terms of the Trust Deed without a successor being appointed;

i the Unitholder of the Series Trust resolving by Series Trust resolution that the Series Trust shoukd terminate;

{g) upon the termination of the period commencing on the date of the Trust Deed and terminating 149 years after such
date;

(h) upon such dates or circumstances as contemplated by the terms of the relevant supplemental deed or as disclosed in
the relevant appendix relating to that Senes Trust or applicable to a ¢lass of units of a Series Trust, 1fa Seres Trust
shall be terminated, the Trusice shall (as soon as reasonably practical) notify all Unitholder of a Series Trust of its
termination and of the date of termination of that Series Trust.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

fi. intion of valuati et asset v

There is a difference between the NAV as per the financial swatements and the NAV for subseription and redemption
purposes (the “published NAV™).

Organisational costs must be expensed as imcurred under US GAAP, The valuation For the published NAV reflects the
amortisation of orgamisational costs over the first five vears of trading of the Series Trust,

A reconcilistion of the NAV as per the financial statements and the published NAV is as follows:

31 December 2024

LsSD
Published net asset value with a net asset value per unit of US5104.83 823,852,662
Unamonised organisational costs (377,559)
Subseriptions of unils 185412821
Redempiions ol units (6,252,061)
Net asset value per financial statements 1,002,635,863
Total outstanding units 9.567.837
Met asset value per unit per financial statements LS, 79

7. Financial Instruments and Associated Risks

The Series Trust's activitics expose it to a variety of financial risks — market risk {including currency risk, interest rate risk
and market price risk), eredit'counterparty risk and liquidity risk which are discussed in this note.

The Manager is responsible under the Trust Deed for the management of the investment and re-investment of the assets of
each Serics Trust, the exercise of the power to berrow money in respect of cach Series Trust, for the issue and repurchase of
units of each Series Trust and the risk management of each Series Trust.

(a) Market Risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in
market prices. Market risk consists of three types of risk, interest rate risk, currency risk and market price risk.

Investments in security present a risk of loss of capital. The Investment Manager moderates this risk through a careful
seleetion of securities and other financial instruments within specified limits as per the investment objective of the Series
Trost. Maximum risk resulting from financial instruments is determined by the fair value of the financial instruments,

by  Currency Risk

Currency risk is defined as the nisk that the fair value of a financial instroment will fluctuate because of the changes in
foreign exchange rates, The nsk anscs on financial instruments that are denominated inoa curreney other than the functional
currency in which they are measured.

As a3 December 2024, the Series Trust does not have any exposure to any direct foreign exchange risk,
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

7. Financial Instruments and Associated Risks (continued)

{e) Interest Rate Risk
Interest rate risk is the rsk that the fair value or future cash fows of a financial instruoment will fluctuate because of changes
in market interest rates,

Interest rate sensitivity refers to the change in carmings that may result from changes in the level of interest rates. The
Underlving Fund mtends to fund portions of its investments with borrowings, and at such time, their net investment incomd
will be affected by the difference between the rate at which they invest and the rate at which they borrow, Accondingly, the
Underlying Fund does not assure sharcholders that a significant change in market nterest rates will not have a matenal
adverse effect on the net investment income,

Asat 31 December 2024, the Series Trust does not have any direct exposure to interest rate nisk.

(d)  Liguidity Risk
The investment in security made by the Series Trust is not listed and consequently liquidity may be low. Moreover, the
accumulation and disposal of the investnent may be time consuming and may need to be conducted at unfavourable prices.

The Series Trust may also encounter difficulties in disposing of assets at their fair price due to adverse market conditions
leading to limited liquidity.

The Manager would follow the clauses mentioned in the Trust Deed and the Offering Memorandum to deal with the issucs
related b0 sudden or unexpected situations arising if need be,

(e}  Credit Risk

There can be no assurance that issuers of the Investments in which the Series Trust invests will not be subject 1o credit
difficulties, leading to the loss of some or all of the sums invested in such investments or payments due on such
investments.

At 31 December 2024, cash and cash equivalents, dividend receivable, subscriptions receivable and the investments in
securities are placed in custody with The Bank of New York Mellon, which is a reputable company and has a strong credit
rating. The Bank of New York Mellon has a credit rating of A with S&P Global Ratings and Aa3 with Moody's.

(N Other Risk

Other risk is the risk that the price of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market conditions influencing,
directly or indirectly, the value of the instrument. Other risk is managed through the overall risk management processes
described above,
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MNotes to the Financial Statements (continued)
8, inancial Instruments at Fair ¥V throu rofit or |

ASC 820 provides for the use of NAV (or its equivalent) as a practical expedient to estimate fair value of investments in the
Underlying Fund, provided certain criteria are met. Accordingly, the Series Trust values its investments in the Underlying
Fund at fair value, which is an amount equal to the sum of the Series Trust’s proportionate interests in the Underlying Fund,
as determined from financial information provided by the respective administrators or investment managers of the
Underlying Fund, These fair values represent the amounts the Series Trust would receive if it were able to liquidate its
investments in the Underlying Fund as of the measurement date, prior to any early withdrawal charges, if applicable. Some
vitllues received are estimates, subject to subsequent revision by the respective administrators or investment managers,
Values received are generally net of management fees and incentive fees or allocations payable to the investment funds’
investment managers pursuant to the Underlying Fund’s operating agreements. The Series Trust value its underlying
investments in accordance with policies established by each Underlying Fund, as described in each of their financial
statements or offering memorandum.

The Underlying Fund holds positions in readily marketable investments and derivatives that are valued at quoted market
values and/or less liguid non-marketable investments and derivatives that are valued at estimated fair value. The mix and
concentration of more readily marketable investments and less liquid non-marketable investments varies across the
Underlying Fund based on various factors, including the nature of their invesiment strategy. The Series Trust's investments
in the Underlying Fund are subject to the terms and conditions of the respective operating agreements and offering
memorandum.

The Investment Manager has designed ongoing due diligence processes with respect o the Underlying Fund, their
administrators, and their investment managers. The Investment Manager assesses the quality of information provided and
determines whether such information continues to be reliable or whether further investigation is necessary. Such
investigation, as applicable, may require the Investment Manager to forego its normal reliance on the value provided and 1o
independently determine the fair value of the Series Trust's interest in the Underlying Fund.

In accordance with US GAAP, investments in the Underlying Fund that are valued at NAV as a practical expedient are not
required 10 be included in the fair value hierarchy, Investments in the Underlying Fund were valued at their respective NAY
as of 31 December 2024, and are ¢xcluded from the fair value hicrarchy,

Following information included in note 8 has been taken from the audited financial statements of the Underlying Fund as of
31 December 2024, The Underlying Fund’s financial statements are preparcd in accordance with US GAAP,

A summary of the Underlying Fund's consohdated statement of assets and liabilings and consolidated statement of
operations for the year ended 31 December 2024 for the Underlving Fund as reported in its audited financial statements, are
as follows:

Consolidated Statement of Asscis and Liabilities {in thousands ) 31 December 2024

Usp

Total asscts T1.283,570

Total liabilites 32427807

Total net assets IBRB55.763
20
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DAIWA WORLD FUND SERIES

Daiwa Blackstone Private Credit Fund

Annual Report and Audited Financial Statements for the vear ended
31 December 2024

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

8. Financial Instruments at Fair Value through Profit or Loss (continued)

Consolidated Statement of Operations (in thous amds) 31 December 2024
LS

Met investment income after tax 3708479

et change in unrealised depreciation (97,2687)

et realised loss {126,664

Metincrease in net assets resulting from operations 3484528

The Underlying Fund’s financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024 were audited by Deloitte & Touche LLE,
USA who issued an ungualified opinion on the statements dated 14 March 20235,

The Underlying Fund is a Delaware statutory trust formed on 11 February 2020, and structured as an externally managed,
non-diversified, closed-end management invesiment company. The Underlying Fund has elected to be regulated as a
business development company under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended (together with the rules and
regulations promulgated thereunder, the “1940 Act™). In addition, the Underlying Fund has clected to be treated for ULS.
federal income tax purposes, and intends to qualify annually, as a regulated investment company under Subchapter M of the
Internal Revenue Code of 1986,

The Underlying Fund managed by Blackstone Credit BDC Advisors LLC, an affiliate of Blackstone Allernative Credit
Advisors LP.

The investment objective of the Underlying Fund 15 to imvest at least 80% of its total asscts (net assets plus borrowings for
investment purposes) in private credit investments (loans, bonds and other credit instruments that are issued in private
offerings or issued by private companies). Once the Underlying Fund has invested a substantial amount of proceeds from its
offering, under normal circumstances the Underlying Fund expects that the majority of its portfolio will be in privately
onginated and privately negotiated investments, predominantly direct lending to ULS. private companics through (1) first
lien senior secured and unitranche loans (including first-out/ast-out loans) (gencrally with total investment sizes less than
USD3I00 million, which criteria may changze from time 1o time) and (i) sccond lien, unsecured, subordinated or mezzanine
loans and structured credit {generally with total investment sizes less than USD100 million, which criteria may change from
time 1o time), as well as broadly syndicated loans (for which the Underlying Fund may serve as an anchor investor), club
deals {generally investments made by a small group of investment firms) and other debt and equity securities,

As at 31 December 2024, the Series Trust has 1.81% of ewnership in the Underlying Fund, and there was no capital
commitment to its Underlving Fund.

The Underlying Fund follows ASC 820, ASC 820 priontizes the use of observable market prices derived from such prices.
The hierarchy gives the highest priority o unadjested quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities {Level
| measurements) and the lowest pricrity to unobservable inputs (Level 3 measurements).

As at 31 December 2024, the Underlying Fund holds debt positions of USD66,050,000, LISD4.956,506,000 and
USDa1, 482 810,000, classified as Leve |, Level 2 and Level 3 investments respectively.
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DAIWA WORLD FUND SERIES

Daiwa Blackstone Private Credit Fund

Annual Report and Audited Financial Statements for the year ended
31 December 2024

MNotes to the Financial Statements (continued)

8. Financial Instruments at Fair Value through Profit or Loss (continued)
Fees structure of the Underlyving Fund:

{a) Incentive fees
The incentive fees consist of two components that are determined independently of each other, with the result that
one component may be payable even if the other is not. One component is based on income and the other
component is based on capital gains,

i) Income based incentive fees
The first part of the incentive fees is based on pre-incentive fee net investment income retuens, [t means,
as the context requires, cither the dollar value of, or percentage rate of retum on the value of net assets o
the end of the immediate preceding quanter from, interest income, dividend income and any other income.

i} Capital gains incentive fees
The second part of the incentive fees is determined and payable in armears as of the end of cach calendar
vear moan amount equal (o 12.5% of cumulative reahised capital gains from inception through the end of
such calendar year, computed net of all realised capital losses and unrealised capital depreciation on a
cumulative basis, less the aggregate amount of any previously paid incentive fee on capital gains as
calculated in accordance with GAAP,

(b} Management fees
The management fees is payable monthly and is seitled and paid quarterly in arrears at an annual rate of 1.25% of
the value of the Underlying Fund's net assets as of the beginning of the first calendar day of the applicable month,

Underlying Fund’s Related party transactions:
The Underlying Fund have entered into a number of business relationships with affiliated or related parties, including the
Investment advisory agreement, the administration agreement, the imermediary manager agreement and the expenses
support and conditional reimbursement agreement,

In addition to the aforementioned agreements, the Underlving Fund’s adviser have been granted exemptive relief by the
Security Exchange Commission to coinvest with other funds managed by the Underlyving Fund’s adviser or its affiliates in a
manner consistent with the Underlving Fund’s investment objectives, positions, policies, strategies and restrictions as well
as regulatory requirements and other pertinent factors,

Subsequent events of the Underlying Fund:

The Underlving Fund’s management evaluated subsequent events through the date of issuance of the consolidated financial
statements, There have been no subsequent events that occurred during such period that would require disclosure in, or
would be required to be recognised in the consolidated financial statements as of 31 December 2024, excepl as discussed
below.

Through the date of issuance of the Underlying Fund’s conselidated financial statements, the Underlying Fund received
approximately USD1,259.9 million of subscriptions, inclusive of distributions reinvested through the Underlying Fund’s
distribution reinvestment plan. On 22 January 2025, the Underlying Fund’s board declared net distributions of USD0O.2200
per Class | share, which is payable on 27 February 2025, On 20 February 2025, the Underlying Fund’s board declared net
distributions of USD0.2200 per Class | share, which is payable on 26 March 2025,

22
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DAIWA WORLD FUND SERIES

Daiwa Blackstone Private Credit Fund

Annual Report and Audited Financial Statements for the year ended
31 December 2024

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

9. Taxation

Under the current laws of the Cayman [slands, there are no income, estate, corporation, capital gains, or other Cayman
Islands taxes payable by the Series Trust. As a result, no provision for taxes has been made in the financial statements. The
Series Trust may be subject to forgign withholding taxes on certain interest, dividends and capital zains,

10. Financial highlight

31 December 2024
Per unit operating performance: 5D
Met asset value per unit at the beginning of the vear 104,43

Change in net asset value per unit resulting from operations

Met investment income 238
MNet realised gain and unrealised depreciation on mvesiments {0L08)
MNet increase in net asset value per unit resulting from operations 820
Distribution paid from net investment income {7 54)
Met asset value perunit at the end of the year 104,79

Total return (i):
Total retum T.85%

Ratios to average net assets (i)
Mot nvestment income T.EE%

Total expenses (1.41%)

{1} Total return caleulated assuming distributions paid were reinvested.

{ii) The financial highlights are calculated for the units taken as & whole based upon a representative investor for each

primary class. An individual investor’s financial highlights may vary from the above based on the timing of Unitholder
trangactions and individual management fee arrangements.

1. Subsequent events

From 1 Janwary 2025 through 29 May 2025, the Sencs Trust aceepted addmional subscripnons of approximately
USD284,240,755, had additional redemptions of approximately USD2,715,452 and declared dividend to Unitholder
amounting to USD29,252,415.

These financial stabements were approved by Manager and Trustee and available for issuance on 29 May 2025, Subsequent
gvents have been evaluated through this date,

23
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DAIWA WORLD FUND SERIES

Daiwa Blackstone Private Credit Fund

Annual Report and Audited Financial Statements for the year ended
31 December 2024

Schedule of Investments

As at
31 December 2024
Yo of Cost Fair Value
NAV Quantity LSD USD

Investments, at far value

Lnited States

Blackstone Pavate Credit Fund 0.26% 27714013 096,673,620 TO4, 490,207
Total linves trents, at fair value T0.26% 27714013 696,673,626 Th4.490.207

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

b
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2023 12 31

4 14,435,294 2,058,040
371,876,908

8 380,290,890 54,218,072
10,079,830 1,437,081
70,126,220 9,997,895
3,372,044 480,752
478,304,278 68,191,841
10,070,338 1,435,728
5,543,240 790,300
3 481,572 68,658
3 208,670 29,750
3 171,990 24,521
3 137,592 19,616
3 128,127 18,267
68,796 9,808
3 25,668 3,659
31,593 4,504
3 21,354 3,044
26,447 3,771
16,915,387 2,411,627

461,388,891 65,780,214
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(l§0’731 (s.787 ) 20,472,020 2,918,696
20,472,020 2,918,696

3 1,494,809 213,115

3 533,861 76,113

526,908 75,121

3 427,088 60,890

213,544 30,445

3 208,670 29,750

3 128,127 18,267

3 35,578 5,072

31,593 4,504

3 21,354 3,044

18,027 2,570

8,419 1,200

3,647,978 520,092

16,824,042 2,398,604

258,050 36,790

8,413,982 1,199,581

8,672,032 1,236,372

25,496,074 3,634,975
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(10, 660,741) (1,519,902)
(10,660,741) (1,519,902)
456,623,896 65,100,869
(10,070, 338) (1,435,728)
446,553,558 63,665,141

461,388,891 65,780,214
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25,496,074

(381,698, 688)

3,634,975

(54,418,782)

10,079,830 1,437,081
(258,050) (36,790)
(8,413,982) (1,199,581)

(10,079,830)

(1,437,081)

(3,372,044) (480, 752)
481,572 68,658
208,670 29,750
171,990 24,521
137,592 19,616
128,127 18,267

68,796 9,808
25,668 3,659
31,593 4,504
21,354 3,044
26,447 3,771
(366,944,881) (52,315,332)
386,497,676 55,102,974
(5,117,501) (729,602)
381,380,175 54,373,372
14,435,294 2,058,040
14,435,294 2,058,040
7,698,688 1,097,602
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DAIWA WORLD FUND SERIES

Daiwa Blackstone Private Credit Fund
Annual Report and Audited Financial Statements for the period from

31 May 2023 (commencement of operations) to 31 December 2023

Assels
Cash

Statement of Assets and Liabilities

Investments, at fair value (cost; USS371.876,908)

Receivable fromunderlyng fund
Subscriptions receivable
Dwidends recevable

Total Assets

Liabilities

Redemptions payabbe

Distribution pavable

Distribution fees payvable
Administration fees payable
Services nanagement fees pavable
Investment management fees payable
Management fees payable

Agent company fees payable
Professional fees payable

Audit fees pavable

Trustee fees payvable

Acerued expenses

Total liahilities

Met assets

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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As at
31 December 2023
5D

| 4,435,204
350,290,890
| 0,079,830
70,126,220
3,372.044

478304278

10,070,338
3.5453.240
481,572
208,670
171,990
137,592
128,127
6, T
25,668
31,593
21,354
26,447

16915387

461 388,891
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DAIWA WORLD FUND SERIES

Daiwa Blackstone Private Credit Fund

Annual Report and Audited Financial Statements for the period from
31 May 2023 (commencement of operations) to 31 December 2023

Statement of Operations

Investment income
Dividend income (net of witholding tax of USS110,731)
Total inves tment income

Expenses

Disinbution fees

Services nanagement fees
Organisational costs
Investment management foes
Agent company fees
Administration fees
Management fees
Professional fees

Audit fees

Trustee fees

Custodian fees

Other fees

Total expenses

Met investment income

MNet realised gain and unrealised appreciation on inves tments
Met realised gain on investments

Met unrealised apprecition on mvestments

MNet realised gain and unrealis ed appreciation on investments

Net increase in net assets resulting from operations

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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For the financial period
from 31 May 2023

to 31 December 2023
LsD

Note

20472,020
20,472,020

3 1,494 508
533,561
526,908
427,088
213,544
208,670
128,127
33,578
3593
3 21,354
18,027

419

3647978

ok

L2 G e

16.824.042

258,050
3.413,982

8,672,032

25496074
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DAIWA WORLD FUND SERIES

Daiwa Blackstone Private Credit Fund

Annual Report and Audited Financial Statements for the period from
31 May 2023 (commencement of operations) to 31 December 2023

Statement of Changes in Net Assets
For the financial period

from 31 Mav 2023
ton 31 December 2023

UsD
Met assets at beginning of the period -
MNet increase in net asseis resulting from operations 25,406,074
Distribution to Unitholde rs
Distribution from net investment income {10,660,741)
Total distribution to Unitholders {10,660,741)
Unit Transactions
Issue of Units 456,623,596
Redemption of Units (10,070,338)
Met increase in net assets resulting from capital transactions 446,553,558
Net assets at end of the period 461,388,891

The accompanying notes form an imegral part of the financial statements.

10
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DAIWA WORLD FUND SERIES

Daiwa Blackstone Private Credit Fund

Annual Report and Audited Financial Statements for the period from
31 May 2023 (commencement of operations) to 31 December 2023

Statement of Cash Mow

For the financial period
from 31 May 2023
to 31 December 2023
Cash flows for operating activities
Met increase in net assets resulting from operations 25 496,074

Adjustments to reconcile net increase in net assets resolting from operations to net
cash used in operating activities

Purchases of investments in securifies (381,698,688)
Sale of investments in securitics 10,079,830
Met realised gain on investiments {258,050)
Net unrealised appreciation on investments (8.413,982)

Change in operating assets and liabilities

Increase in receivable from under] ving fund {10,079,830)
Increase in dividend receivable (3.372,044)
Increase in distribution fees pavable 481,572
Increase in admimstration fees pavable 208,670
Increase in services management fees pavable 171,990
Increase in investment manasement fees pavable 137,592
Increase in nanagement fees pavable 128,127
Increase in agent company foes pavable 68,796
Increase in professional fees pavable 25,668
Increase m audit fees pavable 31,593
Increase in trustee fees pavable 21,354
Increase in accrued expenses 26,447
Met cash used in operating activities (366,944 881)

Cash Mows from financing activitics

Issue of Units, net of subscriptions receivable 386,497,676
Distribution to Unitholders, net of distribution pavable (5.117,500)
MNet cash provided by financing activitics 81,380,175
Change in cash 14,435,204
Cash at the beginning of the period -
Cash at the end of the period 14,435,204

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information and non-cash activities:
Dividend reinvestments in purchase of investments in securities 7.698,688

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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DAIWA WORLD FUND SERIES

Daiwa Blackstone Private Credit Fund

Annual Report and Audited Financial Statements for the period from
31 May 2023 (commencement of operations) to 31 December 2023

MNotes to the Financial Statements

1. Organisation

Daiwa World Fund Series (the *Trust”™) is an open ended umbrella unit trust established by a Declaration of Trust (*Trust
Deed™) dated 2 March 2023, under the laws of the Cayman Islands. The Trust has been established as an umbrella unit trust.
Daiwa Blackstone Private Credit Fund (the “Series Trust™) launched on 2 March 2023 and comprises of units of the Trust
established in accordance with the Trust Deed and constitutes a series trust of the Trust. The Series Trust commenced its
operations on 31 May 2023, The Trust is registered under Section 4(1)(b) of The Mutual Funds Aet (2021 Revision) of the
Cayman Islands and as such is regulated in accordance with such act.

The Trust has been established as an wmbrella unit trust. A separate portfolio or Series Trust can be created and established
to which assets and liabilitics attributable to the relevamt Series Trust will be applied. Units relating exclusively to cach
Series Trust will be issued. The details specific to each Series Trust will be set forth in a separate appendix to the Offering
Memorandum.

The Trust Deed is governed by the laws of the Cayman 1slands. All unitholders are entitled to the benefit of, are bound by,
and are deemed 1o have notice of, the terms of the Trust Deed and any trust deed supplemental thereto. In the event of any
conflict between: (a) the terms of the Offering Memorandum and the relevant Appendix relating to a Series Trust; and (b)
the terms of the Trust Deed and the supplemental trust deed relating to such Series Trust, the terms of the latter documents
will prevail.

The Series Trust has a sole investor - Daiwa Securitics Co. Lid.. As at 31 December 2023, Daiwa Securities Co. Lid. owned
100% of the Units in Series Trust.

The investment objective of the Series Trust is to generate cumrent income and 10 a lesser extent, long term capital
appreciation. The Series Trust will seek to achieve this investment objective through investing substantially all of its assets
in Class | Underlying Fund units issued by the Blackstone Private Credit Fund, a Delaware Statutory Trust formed on 11
February 2020 and structured as a non-diversified, closed-end management investment company (the “Underlying Fund™).

1) EQ Fund Management (Ireland) Limited is the Manager and is responsible under the Series Trust Deed for the
management of the investment and re-investment of the assets of each Series Trust, the exercise of the power o borrow
maney in respect of cach Series Trust and for the issue and repurchase of units of cach Series Trust.

Daiwa Asset Management (Europe) Lid 15 the Investment Manager and 15 responsible for managing the investment and
reinvestment of the assets of the Series Trust.

FirstCaribbean International Bank and Trust Company (Cayman) Limited is the Trustee of the Trust and the Series Trust.

The Bank of MNew York Mellon is the Administrator of the Series Trust pursuant to the Servicing Agreement with the
Trustee and carries oul the day-to-day administration of the Series Trust,

176/344



EDINETOOOO
OO0O00OO00o0DO000DO000D00o0bDO000DOoOdnoo(esss30)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

DAIWA WORLD FUND SERIES

Daiwa Blackstone Private Credit Fund

Annual Report and Audited Financial Statements for the period from
31 May 2023 (commencement of operations) to 31 December 2023

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
2. Stonificant Accounting Policies

L1 Basis of Preparation

These annual audited financial statements for the financial period ended 31 December 2023 have been prepared in
accordance with accounting principles in the United Siates of America ("US GAAP™) on requirement of the Portlolio
Manager who is subject to the Securitics and Exchange Commission’s amended Rule 206(4)-2 under the Investment
Advisers Act of 1940 (“the Act™). This Series Trust also follows the accounting and reporting guidance in Financial
Accounting  Standards Board (“FASB™) Accounting Standards Codification 946 “Fingnoial Services - favestment

Campanies™.

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect certain
amounts reported in the financial statements. Although these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of
current events and actions, actual results may differ from those estimates and the difference could be material.

2.2 Investments at Fair Value through Profit or Loss
All instruments classified an fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value with changes in their fair value
recognised in the Statement of Operations.

Purchases and sales of investments are recognised on a trade date basis - the date on which the Series Trust commits Lo
purchase or sell the asset.

The Series Trust derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire
or it transfers the financial asset and the transfer qualifies for derecognition in accordance with generally aceepted
accounting principles. A financial lability 15 derecognised when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged,
cancelled or has expired.

2.3 Cash
Cash represents cash on hand and demand deposits held at financial institutions.

24 Subscriptions receivahle and redemptions payable

Subscriptions receivable and redemplions payable represent receivables for issue of units and payables for redemption of
units that have been contracted for but not yet delivered by the financial year end. Redemptions and issucs paid after the
financial year end, but based upon financial year end net asset values, are reflected as subscriptions receivable and
redemptions pavable in the Statement of Assets and Liabilities as at 31 December 2023,

2.5  Expenses
Expenses are accounted for on an accruals basis.

26 Investments

The Series Trust records its investment in the Underlying Fund at fair value based on the Series Trust™s proportionate share
of it interest in the net assets of the Underlying Fund. Investments held in the Underlying Fund is valued using net asset
value (the “NAV™), as a practical expedicent.

The value assigned 1o the Senes Trust’s investment in the Underlying Fund is based on available information and does not

necessarily represent the amount that might ultimately be realised, as such amount depends on future circumstances and
cannot reasonably be determined until the Underlying Fund investment is iquidated,
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

2. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

LT Realised and Unrealised Gains and Losses

All realised and unrealised gains and losses arising during the financial vear are included in the Statement of Operations in
arriving at the increase in net assets from operations for the financial vear. In accordance with the Series Trust Deed net
realised and unrealised gains on invesiments are not available for distribution. Realised gains and losses on investment
transactions are determined using cost ealeulated on first in first out basis.

2.8 Distribution to Holders of Units

The Manager (in consultation with the trustee) may from time to time declare distributions (only in cash) out of net income
attributable 1o such Units and out of the capital of the Trust fund of the Series Trust attributable to such Units. Refer note 11
for declaration of distribution to holder of units afier the period end.

2.9  Functional and Presentational Currency
The functional currency of the Series Trust is US dollars, which reflects the fact that the majority of the Series Trust's
investments are in US dollars. The presentation currency is US dollars (“USD™)

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of
the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of sech transactions and from the
translation at financial vear end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilitics derominated in forcign cummencies are
recognised in the Statement of Operations,

L10  Organisational costs

Organisational costs consist of preliminary costs in connection with the formation of the Trust and Series Trust. For net
assct value caleulation purposes, costs relating to the printing and distribution of the principal documents and related
marketing material, legal costs of the Series Trust pertaining to the preparation of principal documents are being amortised
during the first five years of operation. For financial statement purposes, in conformity with US GAAP, the arganisational
costs were expensed fully in the first year of operation.

L1l Receivable from Underlving Fund
Receivable from Underlying Fund represents amount receivable for transactions contracted for but not yvet delivered at the
¢nd of the financial year. These amounts are included in the Statement of Assets and Liabilities.

3 Significant Agreements and Transactions with Affiliates

Manager

1} EQ Fund Management (Ireland) Limited is the Manager of the Series Trust. The Manager is entitled to receive, out of
the asscis of the Series Trust a fee at the rate of 0.06% per annum of the NAY, payable monthly in arrears (the initial
monthly caleulation period commences on and includes the date of the Serics Trust’s establishment) and subject to a
monthly minimum fee of USD?.000, which is waived for the first two months following the date of the Series Trust's
establishment and is reduced to USD3.500 for the third and fourth month following the date of the Series Trust's
cstablishment and a one-off set up fee of USD30,000, payable upon the issue of the Initial Units.

During the financial period, the Series Trust incurred management fees of USD128,127 of which USD128,127 was unpaid
at the financial period end.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

3 Significant Agreements and Transactions with Affiliates (continued)

Trustee

FirstCaribbean Intemnational Bank and Trust Company (Cayman) Limited act as Trustee to the Series Trust. In accordance
with the Offering Memorandum and Appendix to the Series Trust, the Trustce will be entitled to receive. out of the assets of
the Series Trust, a trustee foe at the rate of 0.01% per annum of the NAY of the Series Trust, subject to a minimum fee of
USD15,000 per annum, acerued on and caleulated as at each Valuation Day and payable quarterly in armears (the initial
quarterly calculation period commences on and includes the date the of the Series Trust's establishment) and shall be
entitled to a one off acceptance fee of LISDS,000,

The Trustee shall, in addition, be reimbursed for all proper and reasonable out-of-pocket expenses of the Trustee payable
out of the assets of the Series Trust,

During the financial period, the Series Trust incurred trustee fees of USD21,354 of which USD21.354 was unpaid at the
financial period end.

Administrator

The Bank of New York Mellon has been appointed Administeator to the Series Trust. The Administrator will be entitled to
receive out of assets of the Series Trust, a fee of 00575 < 0.095%, per annum of NAV accrued on and caleulated as at cach
valuation day subject to an annual mininum fee of USD95,000. Furthermore, the fees for any additional services as agreed
between the Trustee, the Manager and the Administrator from time 1o time will be pavable out of the assets of the Series
Trust. These fees are payable on a monthly basis and do not include any transaction related fees or reasonable out of pocket
CXPEnECs.

Durnng the financial penod, the Senes Trust incurred administration fees of USD208,670 of which USD208,670 was unpaid
at the financial period end.

Investment Manager

The Manager has delegated to Daiwa Asset Management (Europe) Ltd the Managers responsibility to manage the
investment and reinvestment of the assets of the Series Trust. The Investment Manager will be entitled to receive out of the
assets of the Series Trust a fee at the rate of 0.20% per annum of NAV acerued on and calculated as at each valuation day
and payable monthly in arrears.

During the financial period, the Series Trust incurred investment management fees of USD427,088 of which USDI37.592
was unpaid at the financial period end.

Legal Advisers

Mori Hamada & Matsumoto acts as Legal Adviser to the Series Trust in Japan and is responsible for providing discretionary
legal advice 1o the Series Trust. Maples and Calder (Singapore) LLP acts as Legal Adviser to the Series Trust in Cavman
Islands and is responsible for providing discretionary legal advice to the Series Trust. Maples and Calder (Ireland) LLP acts
as Legal Adviser to the Series Trust in Ireland and is responsible for providing discretionary legal advice to the Series Trust.

During the finanecial period, the Series Trust incurred legal advisor fees of USD35.578 of which USD25 668 was unpaid at
the financial period end.

Management Service Providing Company

The Manager has appointed Daiwa Asset Management Co. Lid. to act as the Management Service Providing Company. The
Manager Support Service Provider will be entitled to receive out of the assets of the Series Trust, a fee of 0.25% per annum
of the NAV accerued on and caleulated as ar each valuation day and payable monthly in arrears,

During the financial period, the Series Trust mcurred services management fees of USDS33.801 of which USDN 71,990
was unpaid at the financial period end.,
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3 Significant Agreements and Transactions with Affiliates (continued)

Dvistributor
The Distributor will be entitled W receive out of the assets of the Series Trust, a fee of 0.70% per annum of the NAY
acerued on and calculated as at each valuation day and pavable monthly in amears.

During the finaneial period, the Series Trust incurred distribution fees of USD1,494,809 of which USD481,572 was unpaid
al the financial period end.

4. Cash
Cash is held with The Bank of New York Mellon at financial period end as follows:

31 December 2023

Uush

Cash at bank 14,435,204
14,435,294

5. Lnits in Dssue and NAY Per Unit

31 December 2023
Units in ssue as at 31 May 2023 -

Issue of uniis 4,514,301
Redemiption of units {96.330)
Units in sswee a8 at 31 December 2023 4,417,971
MAN per Unit as at 31 December 2023 LIS 043
Voting rights

The Trustee or the Manager shall when required to do so by the terms and provisions of the Trust Deed, at the writien
request of the other, or at the request in writing of unitholders rezistered as holding in aggregate not less than one-tenth of
the units for the tme being in issue of the Trust, a Series Trust or a class of units of a Series Trust (as relevant) convene a
mecting of unmitholders of the Trust, the relevant Series Trust or the relevant ¢lass of a Series Trust (as the case may be) at
such time and place specified in the notice convening such meeting, and the provisions of schedule 1 1o the Trust Deed shall
apply to that meeting. When the Trustee or the Manager determines that a meeting of unitholders is necessary or
appropriate, a meeting shall be called by at least 10 clear days notice to the unitholders of the Trust or relevant Series Trust
or the elass of the relevant Series Trust. The notice shall specify the time, date and place of the mecting and the terms of any
resolution to be proposed at the meeting. The record date for the meeting shall also be speeified in the notice. The accidental
omission to give notice to, or the nonreceipt of notice by, any unitholder conceming any mecting shall not invalidate the
proceedings at that meeting. Any authorised representative of the Trustee or the Manager is entitled to attend and speak a1
any meeting. Save where there is only one unitholder {in which case the quorum for any meeting is one), the quorum for
any meeting shall be at least two unitholders together holding at least one-tenth of the total NAY of the total units of the
Trust or the Series Trust or the class (as the case may be) for the time being in issue.
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5, Units in Issue and NAY Per Unit (continued)

Voting rights (continued )

Any resolution put to a vote at a mecting shall be decided by a poll, which shall be taken in writing and, if the resolution 1s
approved by the requisite majority for a Series Trust resolution or a unitholder’s resolution {as the case may be), the result
of the poll shall be the resolution of the meeting, Any ealeulations concerming unitholder’s resolutions, Series Trust
resolutions, votes or quorum shall use the NAV at the time of the relevant record date (but if the record date is not a
valuation day, then the caleulations shall use the valuation day immediately preceding the record date). On a poll votes may
be given either personally or by proxy.

Initial Subscriptions

Units are available for subscription by eligible investors during the initial offer period at the issue price. Units subscribed
far during the initial offer period will be issued on the initial closing date. The minimum aggregate subscriptions for units
during the initial offer period is 500 units with any excess thereof in integral multiples of 1 unit or such other number of
units as the manager may determine.

Subsequent Subscriptions

Following the initial closing date, units of each class of units will be available for subscription by eligible investors on each
subseription day except as deseribed in the section of the offering memorandum headed "suspension of calculation of NAY™, at a
price equal o the NAY per unit of the applicable class of units on the valuation day falling on the relevant subscription day. The
minimum aggregate subscriptions for units for subsequent subscriptions is 300 units with any excess thereof in imegral multiples
of 1 unit or such other number of units as the manager may determine,

Redemptions

The units of the Series Trust are redeemable at the option of the Unitholder on each repurchase day being the last ealendar day in
cach calendar quarter, namely 31 March, 30 June, 30 September and 31 December, commencing from 31 December 2023 and / or
such other day or days as the Manager may from time (o time determine, at the repurchase price, provided that the repurchase
nodice has been received by the Admimstrator no later than Spm (Tokyo time) on o business day that falls at least one month prior
to the relevant repurchase day, or such other time as the Manager may, in any particular case |, determine, failing which the
repurchase will be held over for the next following relevant repurchase day and units will be repurchased at the repurchase price
applicable on that repurchase day.

Termination
Unless otherwise provided in the relevant appendix relating to the relevant Serics Trust, a Series Trust will be terminated on
the happening of the first to occur of any of the following events:

(a} the Trustee or the Manager certifving to the unitholders that it has become illegal, impractical, uneconomic,
inadvisable or contrary to the interests of the unitholders to continue the Series Trost including, withow limitation,
where the Manager determines that it 15 no longer possible for the Series Trast to achigve its investment objective;

(b} all its units having been repurchased;

(¢} if the Trustee gives written notice of its intention to retire and be discharged from cach Series Trust or its going
into liquidation and the Manager is unable to appoint a new trustee in its place in accordance with the terms of the
Trust Deed and the Trustee issues a certificate declaring the termination of cach Series Trust;

(d) if the Manager shall give notice of retirement or resignation under the terms of the Trust Deed and no successor
manager shall have been appointed within 90 days of the notice;

(e} if the Manager is removed by the Trustee under the terms of the Trust Deed without a successor being appointed;

() the unitholders of the Series Trust resolving by Series Trust resolution that the Series Trust should terminate;

(g} upon the termination of the period commencing on the date of the Trust Deed and terminating 149 years after such
date;

(h) upon such dates or circumstances as contemplated by the terms of the relevant supplemental deed or as disclosed in
the relevant appendix relating to that Serics Trust or applicable to a class of units of a Series Trust, If a Series Trust
shall be terminated the Trustee shall (as soon as reasonably practical) notify all unitholders of a Series Trust of its
termination and of the date of termination of that Series Trust.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
. Reconciliation of valuation to net asset value

There is a difference between the NAV as per the financial statements and the NAV for subscription and redemption
purpascs (the “published NAY™),

Organisational costs must be expensed as incurred under US GAAP. The valuation for the published NAV reflects the
amorisation of organisational costs over the first five years of trading of the Series Trust.

A reconciliation of the NAV as per the financial statements and the published NAY is as follows:

31 December 2023

LUsD
Published net asset value with a net asset value per unit of USS104.53 426,902,452
Unamortised orgamsatioml costs (451.979)
Subscriptions of units 45,008,756
Redemptions of units (10,070,338
Met asset value per financial state ments 461,388,891
Total outstanding units 4417971
Met asset value per unit per financial statements LSDI0g.43

Te Financial Instruments and Associated Risks

The Series Trust’s activitices expose it to a variety of financial risks — market risk (including currency risk, interest rate risk
and market price risk), credit/counterparty risk and liquidity risk which are discussed in this note.

1) EQ Fund Management (Ireland) Limited is the Manager of the Series Trust. The Manager is responsible under the Trust
Deed for the management of the investment and re-investment of the assets of each Series Trust, the exercise of the power
to borrow money in respect of cach Series Trust, for the issue and repurchase of units of each Series Trust and the risk
management of each Series Trust.

() Market Risk

Market risk ts the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in
market prices. Market risk consists of three types of risk, interest rate risk. currency risk and market price risk.

Investments in security present a risk of loss of capital, The Investment Manager moderates this risk through a careful
selection of securities and other financial instruments within specified limits as per the investment objective of the Series
Trust, Maximum risk resulting from fnancial instruments is determined by the fair value of the financial instruments,

by  Currency Risk

Currency nisk 15 defined as the nisk that the fair value of a financial instrument will Auctuate becawse of the changes n
foreign exchange rates. The risk arises on financial instruments that are denominated in a curreney other than the functional

currency in which they are measured.

As at 31 December 2023, the Series Trust does not have any exposure to any direct foreign exchange risk.
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7. Financial Instruments and Associated Risks (continued)
(e} Imterest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes
in market interesi rates.

Interest rate sensitivity refers 1o the change in earnings that may result from changes in the level of interest rates. The
Underlying Fund intends to fund portions of its investments with borrowings, and at such time, their net investment income
will be affected by the difference between the rate at which they invest and the rate at which they borrow. Accordingly, the
Underlying Fund docs not assure sharcholders that a significant change in market interest rates will not have a material
adverse effect on the net investment income,

As at 31 December 2023, the Series Trust does not have any direct exposure 1o interest rate risk.
(d)  Liguidity Risk

The investment in security made by the Series Trust is not listed and consequently liquidity may be low. Moreover, the
accumulation and disposal of the investment may be time consuming and may need to be conducted at unfavourable prices.

The Scries Trust may also encounter difficultics in disposing of assets at their fair price due to adverse market conditions
leading to limited liquidity.

10 EQ Fund Management {Ireland) Limited in its capacity as the Manager would follow the clavses mentioned in the Trust
Dreed and the Offering Memorandum to deal with the issues related 1o sudden or unexpected situations arising if need be,

{e)  Credit Risk

There can be no asswrance that 1ssuers of the Investments in which the Series Trust invests will not be subject to credit
difficulties, leading to the loss of some or all of the sums invested in such investments or payments due on such
investments,

At 31 December 2023, cash, dividend receivable, subsenptions receivable and the investments in sceunties are placed i
custedy with The Bank of New York, which is a reputable company and has a strong credit rating. The Bank of New York
Mellon has a credit rating of A with 5&P Global Ratings and A1 with Moody's.

(f Oither Risk

Other risk 15 the risk that the price of a Onancial instrument will Muenee due o changes in market conditions influencing,
directly or indirectly, the value of the instrument, Other risk is managed through the overall rsk management processes
deseribed above,
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£ Financial Instruments at Fair Yalue through Profit or Loss

ASC 820 provides for the use of NAV {or its equivalent) as a practical expedient to estimate fair value of investments in
Underlying Fund, provided certain criteria are met. Accordingly, the Serics Trust values its investments in Underlying Fund
at fair value, which is an amount equal to the sum of the Series Trust’s proportionate interests in the Underlying Fund, as
determined from financial information provided by the respective administrators or investment managers of the Underlying
Fund. These fair values represent the amounts the Series Trust would receive if it were able to liguidate its investments in
the Underlying Fund as of the measurement date, prior to any carly withdrawal charges, if applicable. Some values received
are estimates, subject to subsequent revision by the respective administrators or investment managers. Values received are
generally net of management fees and incentive fees or allocations pavable to the investment funds® investment managers
pursuant o the Underlying Fund's operating agreements. The Series Trust value its underlying investments in accordance
with policies established by each Underlying Fund, as described in each of their financial statements or offering
memorandum.

The Underlying Fund hold positions in readily marketable investiments and derivatives that are valued at quoted market
values andior less liguid non-marketable invesiments and derivatives that are valued at estimated fair value, The mix and
concentration of more readily marketable investments and less liquid non-marketable investments varies across the
Underlying Fund based on various factors, including the nature of their investment strategy. The Series Trust's investments
in Underlying Fund are subject to the terms and conditions of the respective operating agreements and offering
memorandum.

The Investment Manager has designed ongoing due diligence processes with respect o Underdying Fund, their
admimistrators, and their ivestment managers. The Investment Manager asscesses the quality of information provided and
determines whether such information continues to be reliable or whether further investigation 15 necessary, Such
investigation, as applicable, may require the Investment Manager to forezo its normal reliance on the value provided and to
mdependently determine the fair value of the Series Trust's interest in the Underlying Fund.,

In accordance with US GAAP, investments in Underlyving Fund that are valued at NAV as a practical expedient are not
required to be included in the fair value hierarchy. Investments in Underlving Fund were valued at their respective NAV as
of 31 December 2023, and are excleded from the fair value hierarchy,

Following information has been taken from the audited financial statements of the Underlying Fund as of 31 December
2023, The Underlving Fund's financial statcments are prepared in accordance with US GAAP.

A summary of Underlying Fund’s consohdated statement of assets and habilities and consolidated statement of operations
for the year ended 31 December 2023 for the Underlying Fund as reported in its audited financial statements, are as follows:

Consolidated Statement of Assets and Liabilitics (in thousands) 31 December 2023

Total asscts 53.317.236

Total Liabilities 24,782,799

Total net assets 28,534,437
20
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B Financial Instruments at Fair Value througsh Profit or Loss (continued)
Consolidated Statement of Operations (in thousands) 31 December 2023
Met invesiment income after excise tax 3058462
Net change in unrealized appreciation 615,705
Met realized loss (310,984)
Net increase in net assets resulting from operations 3,363,183

The Underlying Fund's financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 were audited by DELOITTE & TOUCHE
LLP, USA who issued an ungualified opinion on the statements dated 15 March 2024,

The Underlying Fund is a Delaware statutory trust formed on 11 February 2020, and structured as an externally managed,
non-diversified, closed-end management investment company. The Underlyving Fund has elected to be regulated as a
business development company under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended (together with the rules and
regulations promulgated thereunder, the 1940 Act”). In addition, the Underlving Fund has elected to be treated for ULS,
federal income tax purposes, and intends (o qualify annually, as a regulated investment company under Subchapter M of the
Internal Revenue Code of 1986,

The Underlving Fund managed by Blackstone Credit BDC Advisors LLC, an affiliate of Blackstone Allernative Credit
Advisors LP

The investment objective of the Underlying Fund is o invest at least 80% of its total assets (net assets plus borrowings for
investment purposes) in private credit investments (loans, bonds and other credit instruments that are issued in private
offerings or issued by private companies). Onee the Underlying Fund has invested a substantial amount of proceeds from its
offering, under normal circumstances the Underlying Fund expects that the majority of its portfolio will be in privately
originated and privately negotiated investments, predominantly direct lending to ULS. private companies through (i) first
lien senior secured and unitranche loans {(including first-out/last-out loans) {generally with total investment sizes less than
USD300 million, which eriteria may change from time to time) and (11} second lien, unsecured, subordinated or mezzanine
loans and structured credit {generally with total investment sizes less than USD100 million, which criteria may change from
time to time), as well as broadly syndicated loans (for which the Underlying Fund may serve as an anchor investor), club
deals (generally invesiments made by a small group of invesiment firms) and other debt and equity securilies.

As at 31 December 2023, the Series Trust has 1.33% of ownership in Underlying Fund, and there was no capital
commitment to its Underlving Fund,

The Underlying Fund follows ASC 820, ASC 820 prioritizes the use of observable market prices derived from such prices.
The hierarchy gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level
| measurements) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3 measurementis).

As at 31 December 2023, the Underlying Fund holds debt positions of USDS billion and USD43.5 billion, classified as
Level 2 and Level 3 investments respectively.
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£ Financial Instruments at Fair Value througsh Profit or Loss (continued)

Fees structure of the Underlying Fund:

(a) Incentive fees
The incentive fees consist of two components that are determined independently of each other, with the result that
one component may be pavable even if the other is not, One component is based on income and the other
component is based on capital gains,

i) Income based incentive fees
The first part of the incentive fees is based on pre incentive fee net investment income retums, [t means,
as the context requires, either the dollar value of, or percentage rate of retum on the value of net assets at
the end of the immediate preceding quarter from, interest income, dividend income and any other income.

i) Capital gains ineentive fees
The second part of the incentive fees is determined and payable in arrears as of the end of each calendar
year in an amount equal to 12.5% of cumulative realized capital gains from inception through the end of
such calendar year, computed net of all realized capital losses and unrealized capital depreciation on a
cumulative basis, less the aggregate amount of any previously paid incentive fee on capital gams as
calculated in accordance with GAAP,

(k) Management fees
The management fees is payable monthly and is settled and paid quarterly in arrears at an annual rate of 1.25% of
the value of the Underlyving Fund’s net assets as of the beginning of the first calendar day of the applicable month,

Underlving Fund’s Related party transactions:

The Underlying Fund have éntered into a number of busimess relationships with affiliated or related parties, including the
Investment advisory agreement. the administration agreement, the intermediary manager agreement and the expenses
support and conditional reimbursement agreement,

In addition to the aforementioned agreements, the Underlying Fund’s adviser have been granted exemptive relief by the
Security Exchange Commission to coinvest with other funds managed by Underlying Fund's adviser or its affiliates in a
manner consistent with Underlying Fund’s investment objectives, positions, policies, strategies and restrictions as well as
regulatory requirements and other pertinent factors.

Subsequent events of the Underlying Fund:

The Underlying Fund’s management evaluated subsequent events through the date of issuance of the consolidated financial
statements. There have been no subsequent events that eccwred during such period that would require disclosure in, or
wottld be required to be recognized in the consolidated financial statements as of 31 December 2023, except as discussed
below.

Through the date of issuance of the Underlying Fund’s consolidated financial statements, the Underlying Fund received
approximately USD2,914 million of subscriptions, inclusive of distributions reinvested through the Underlying Fund's
distribution reinvestment plan. On 24 January 2024, the Underlying Fund’s board declared net distributions of USD0.2200
per Class | share, USDN.2020 per Class S share, and USD0.2147 per Class D share, which is payable on 28 February 2024,
O 22 February 2024, the Underlyving Fund's board declared net distributions of USD0.2200 per Class [ share, USDO.2020
per Class § share, and USD0.2147 per Class D share, which is payable on 28 March 2024.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
. Taxation
Under the current laws of the Cayman Islands, there are no income, estate, corporation, capital gains, or other Cayman

Islands taxes payable by the Series Trust. As a result, no provision for taxes has been made in the financial ststements. The
Series Trust may be subject to foreign withholding taxes on certain interest, dividends and capital gains.

{13 Financial highlights
31 December 2023

Per unit operating performance: LS
Met asset value per unit subscribed T 0
Change in net asset value per unit resulting feom ope rations

Met investment income 4.69
Mt realised pain and wrealised appreciation on investments 2.41
Net increase in net asset value per anit resulting from ope rations 7.10
Distribution paid from net investment income: (2.6T)
Mt asset value per unit at the end of the period 104,43

Total return:
Total return 4.43%

Ratios to average net assets (i)
Met investment income TRT%

Total expenses {1.5826)

i. The financial highlights are calculated for the units taken as a whole bascd upon a representative investor for cach primar v
class. An individual investor's financial highlights may vary from the above based on the timing of capital transactions and
individual management fee arrangements, The ratios, excluding nonrecurring expenses have been annualised. Total retum
has not been annualised.

1. Subsequent events

In connection with the preparation of the financial statements as a1 31 December 2023, management has evaluated the
impact of all subsequent events on the Series Trust through 31 May 2024, There were subscriptions of Units amounting to
ISR, 860,663, redemptions of Units amounting o USD1L360,954 and the Series Trust declared dividend 1o Units holder
amounting to USD13,040,389 (o the date the financial statements were available to be issued. There were no additional
subsequent events requiring recognition or disclosure in the financial stalements,

23

2025
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1,298,129,385.32 185,074,306,465

23,006,479.69 3,280,033,809
1,275,122,905.63 181,794,272,655
12,259,028

104.02 14,830
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2025
3,655,000 9,273 1.25
2,924,000

1Q EQ
1989
148223 2014 22
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23 103

2025 30
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2024 12 31 2023 12 31
38,402,547 6,227,741 32,874,657 5,331,283
(29,637,425) (4,806,301) (23,213,594) (3,764,549)
(127,463) (20,671) 97,282 15,776
8,637,659 1,400,769 9,758,345 1,582,511
805,657 130,653 1,086,064 176,127
(928,522) (150,578) (6,732) (1,092)
8,514,794 1,380,844 10,837,677 1,757,546
(966,315) (156,707) (1,343,783) (217,921)
7,548,479 1,224,137 9,493,894 1,539,625

)
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2024 12 31
2024 12 31 2023 12 31
14 344,500 55,868 393,772 63,858
344,500 55,868 393,772 63,858
1
8 21,297,584 3,453,829 27,405,653 4,444,375
9 9,052,998 1,468,125 7,436,721 1,206,013
30,350,582 4,921,954 34,842,374 5,650,388
1
16 (6,803,540) (1,103,330) (3,893,083) (631,341)
23,547,042 3,818,624 30,949,291 5,019,047
23,891,542 3,874,491 31,343,063 5,082,905
10 3,655,000 592,731 3,655,000 592,731
10 6,207,624 1,006,690 6,207,624 1,006,690
11 2,072 336 2,072 336
14,026,846 2,274,734 21,478,367 3,483,147
23,891,542 3,874,491 31,343,063 5,082,905
13 28 ( )
2025 28
C D C D
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3,655,000 6,207,624 11,984,473 2,072 21,849,169
- - 9,493,894 - 9,493,894
3,655,000 6,207,624 21,478,367 2,072 31,343,063
3,655,000 6,207,624 21,478,367 2,072 31,343,063
- - (15,000,000) - (15,000,000)

- - 7,548,479 - 7,548,479
3,655,000 6,207,624 14,026,846 2,072 23,891,542
592,731 1,006,690 1,943,522 33 3,543,280

- - 1,539,625 - 1,539,625

592,731 1,006,690 3,483,147 33 5,082,905
592,731 1,006,690 3,483,147 33 5,082,905
- - (2,432,550) - (2,432,550)

- - 1,224,137 - 1,224,137

592,731 1,006,690 2,274,734 33 3,874,491
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2023 12 31 2024 12 31
2024 12 31 2023 12 31
( )
7,548,479 1,224,137 9,493,894 1,539,625
122,865 19,925 (1,079,332) (175,035)
49,272 7,990 41,816 6,781
323,041 52,388 (53,687) (8,706)
«C ) (127,463) (20,671) 97,282 15,776
966,315 156,707 1,354,710 219,693
8,882,509 1,440,476 9,854,683 1,598,134
( 5,831,506 945,695 (9,423,814)  (1,528,260)
( 3,187,020 516,839 (2,469,757) (400,520)
) 17,901,035 2,903,011 (2,038,888) (330, 646)
(1,252,838) (203,173) (981, 240) (159,128)
) 16,648,197 2,699,838 (3,020,128) (489,774)
(31,920) (5,176) (6,732) (1,092)
- - 362,500 58,787
(31,920) (5.,176) 355,768 57,695
(15,000,000)  (2,432,550) - -
(15,000,000)  (2,432,550) - -
7,436,721 1,206,013 10,101,081 1,638,002
1,616,277 262,112 (2.664,360) (432,079)
9,052,998 1,468,125 7,436,721 1,206,013
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ECL

ECL ECL

2024 2023
12 31 12 31

38,402,547 32,874,657

2024 2023
12 31 12 31

25,804,523 24,187,524
2,578,899 186,682
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1,561,320 1,637,283
7,097,547 6,087,078
75,001 107,000
700,814 669,090
469,108 -
12,906 -
39,830 -
62,600 -
38,402,547 32,874,657

2024 2023

12 31 12 31
1,135,970 1,221,640
28,305 27,900
49,272 41,816
47,000 41,100
1,260,547 1,332,456

2024 2023

12 31 12 31
4 11,126,958 9,286,616
18,461,195 13,885,162
49,272 41,816
29,637,425 23,213,594

2024 2023

12 31 12 31

92 72

2024 2023

12 31 12 31
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10,235,597 8,531,087
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2024 2023
12 31 12 31
805,657 1,086,001
- 63
805,657 1,086,064
7.5 (2023 7.5 )
805,657 (2023 1,086,001 )
2024 2023
12 31 12 31
896,602 -
31,920 6,732
928,522 6,732
7.5 (2023 7.5 )
896,602 (2023 )
2024 2023
12 31 12 31
1,064,349 1,354,710
(98,034) (10,927)
966,315 1,343,783
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b)
2024 2023
12 31 12 31
8,514,794 10,837,677
12.5 (2023 12.5 ) 1,064,349 1,354,710
(98,034) (10,927)
C ) 966,315 1,343,783
©)
2024
8.
2024 2023
12 31 12 31
1
17 13,049,908 20,757,322
7,467,538 5,926,188
740,924 672,829
276,563 -
39,214 49,314
21,574,147 27,405,653
@
(b IFRS ECL 127,463 (2023 20,000 )
9.
2024 2023
12 31 12 31
9,052,998 7,436,721
9,052,998 7,436,721
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2001
2003
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13.
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10,000,000 )

2,924,000 )

(2023 )
1998 25 (3)
2019 11 29
6,207,624
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2024 2023
12 31 12 31
12,500,000 12,500,000
3,655,000 3,655,000
3,655,000 3,655,000
2024 2023
12 31 12 31
15,000,000 -
2024 2023
12 31 12 31
2,072 2,072
1.25
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472,497 (2023 388,155 )
2024 (2023 )
14.

IT

2022 12 31 62,948 62,948

397,500 397,500

2023 12 31 460,448 460,448

2024 12 31 460,448 460,448

2022 12 31 24,860 24,860

41,816 41,816

2023 12 31 66,676 66,676

49,272 49,272

2024 12 31 115,948 115,948

2024 12 31 344,500 344,500

2023 12 31 393,772 393,772

15.

2022 12 31 91,000

35,000

(126,000)

2023 12 31 _

2024 12 31 _
2020 28 SpA( )

RSCT ( )

(A2 1,000 B2 400,000 ) 0.50 A2 1,000
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2020 12 PS
)
)
2021 B2 20,000
2021 12 30
5,000 )
2022 2022 12 B2
2023 B2 35,000
16.
1
@
17.
a)

1.00
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B2 61,000
(
(
(2028 12 31 )
5,000
2021 12 A2
5,500 ( 500
20,000 10,000
2023 B2
126,000
2024 2023
12 31 12 31
18 3,841,465 429,565
2,275,542 1,993,410
- 1,010,953
31,529 13,472
931,567 445,683
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2024 2023
12 31 12 31
9,052,998 7,436,721
13,971,861 20,757,322
7,506,752 5,975,503
30,531,611 34,169,546
30.5 (2023 12 34.2 )
10 EQ
2024 12 31 AlB 0 (2023 12 0.341 ) HSBC
9.052 (2023 12 7.096 ) AlB s&p
BBB(2023 12  BBB) HSBC A+(2023 12 A+)
10 EQ
2024 2023
12 31 12 31
7,467,538 5,926,188
39,214 49,314
13,049,908 20,757,322
20,556,660 26,732,824
2024 12 31 2023 12 31
1,186,168 - 2,061,431 -
30 2,051,475 - 1,555,427 -
4,067,539 - 2,316,678 -
328,047 - 60,842 -
28,576 127,463 1,125 20,000
7,661,805 127,463 5,995,503 20,000
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( ECL )
ECL
IFRS
127,463 (2023 12
20,000 )
30
2024 12 31 7.5 (2023 12 6.0 )
b)
9,052,998 (2023 7,436,721 )
©)
2024 12 31
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2024 12 31

9,052,998 - 9,052,998

13,049,908 - 13,049,908
- (3,841,465) (3,841,465)

22,102,906 (3.841,465) 18,261,441
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2023 12 31
7,436,721 - 7,436,721
20,757,322 - 20,757,322
28,194,043 - 28,194,043
d)
( )
( )
10 EQ 1Q EQ
18.
1Q EQ SCSp 2024 12 31 2023 12 31
10 EQ Sarl
Sarl 412F L-
2086 R.C.S. B201044 Sarl 1Q EQ SCSp
2024 12 31 13,049,908
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2024 2023

12 31 12 31

5,853,214 1,916,591

1Q EQ ( ) 4,407,157 18,223,924
10 EQ (IRE) 1,539,134 496,228
Sarl 1,250,403 120,579

13,049,908 20,757,322

2024 12 31 3,841,465
2024 2023
12 31 12 31
1Q EQ (1ow 3,259,671 94,738
1Q EQ K 263,829 334,827
1Q EQ ( ) 272,147 -
Sarl 45,803 -
1Q EQ 15 -
3,841,465 429,565
Sarl
1.3
2024 2023
12 31 12 31
1,135,970 1,221,640
28,305 27,900
1,164,275 1,249,540
2024 (2023
)
19.
( )
( )
20.
2025 28
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1Q EQ Fund Management (Ireland) Limited

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year anded 31 Decamber 2024

For the Year Ended For the Year Ended

Hotes 3 December 2024 31 December 2023

Revenue 38,402 547 32874657
Administrative expenses {29,637 425) (23.213.594)
Expected credit loss impairment charges (127,463) 87,282
Operating Profit 8,637 659 9758345
Interest receivable and similar income 805,657 1,086,064
Interest payable and similar charges (928,522) (6,732)
Profit before tax 8.514,794 10,837,677
Income tax (chargeVeradit {966,315) (1.343.783)
Profit after tax € 7,548,479 £ 0,403,804

The Company had no recognised gains or losses in the financial year cther than the profit for the financial year and all

results derive from continuing operations,

The accompanying noles on pages 13 to 28 form an integral part of the financial statements,

213/344
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1Q EC Fund Management (Ireland) Limited

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 31 December 2024

Az at As at

Hotes 31 December 2024 31 December 2023
Non-current Assets
Propery and equipment 14 344 500 383772
Total non-current assels 344500 383772
Current assets
Deblors

Amounts falling due within one year 8 21,297 584 27405653

Cash at bank and in hand ] 9,052 998 7436721
Total current assels 30,350 582 34842374
Creditors
Amounts falling due within one year 16 (6,803,540) (3,893.083)
MNet current assels 23547042 30,949 291
Het assels € 23,891,542 € 31,243,063
Capital and reserves
Share capital 10 3,655,000 3,655,000
Capital contribution following merger by absorption 10 6,207,624 6,207,624
Other undenominated capital 1 2072 2072
Retained eamings 14,026,846 21478367
Equity € 23,891,542 € 31,343,063

The accompanying notes on pages 13 to 28 form an inlegral part of the financial statements,

On behalf of the Board

28 April 2025

Q oA Dec ﬂ*[ g4
Phul O'Shea <_Y Paul Giblin ¥
Director Director

Page 10 of 28
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1Q EQ Fund Management (Ireland) Limited

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the vear 31 December 2024

Capital Other
Contribution Ruinined Undenominated
Share Capital Razorve Rarnings Capital Total
11 January 2023 € 2SSO0 £ GIOTEM € 11SM4TI € 2072 € ;869
Totsl comprelensive income afler tax for the yesr - - 2450 - 499,604
A1 31 December 2023 L 3855000 & 6,207,624 L 21478 38T € 2072 L 31,343,063
A1 Jeruary 2034 € JESE000 € BIOTEM € Z1ATANT € T € M0
Divicands declaed - - (118500, 000) . [18.000,000)
Totsl comprelensive income afer tax fof the yesr - - 7548479 - 7848479
At 31 Decamber 2024 € 2855000 € BI0TEM € 40068 € 072 € M
Page 11 of 28
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10 EQ Fund Management (Ireland) Limited

For the period from 31 Decamber 2023 to 31 December 2024

Cash flows (used in)/from operating activities
Profit for the period

Adpustments for:

Het finance costs

Depreciation of fixed assal

Foreign exchange

Expected cradit loss impairment charge / (reversal)
Corporation tax

Operating cash flow before working capital changes

Worling capital changes :
{Increase)Decrease in trade and other recenables
{Decreasajincrease in trade and other payables

Net cash flows fromf{used) in operations
Corporation tax paid

Net cash Nows fromifused) in operating activities

Cash flows from investing activites
Interast paid

Purchase of other inrvestrment

Net cash flows from investing activities

Cash flows from financing activites
Dividends paid

Net cash flows from financing activities

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the pericd
Met increasef{decreasa) in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the period

For the Year Ended For the Year Ended
M December 2024 ¥ December 2023

€ 7.548.479 9,493 894
122 865 (1.079,332)

49,272 41,816
323,041 (53,687)

(127 463) 97282

966,315 1,354,710

8,882,509 9,854,683
5.831.506 (9.423.814)
3,187,020 {2.469,75T)
17,901,035 (2,038,888)
(1.252,838) (981,240)
16,648,197 (3,020,128)
(31.920) (B,732)
- 362,500

Eiﬂ| 355,768

{15,000,000) =
(15, 00:0, 0040) .

1436721 10,101,081
1.616.277 (2 664.360)

€ E.DGJIEM T.%HI

216/344
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10 EC Fund Management (Ireland) Limited

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. Summary of significant accounting policies
General information

The Company is a limited company which is tax resident, incorporated and operating in Republic of Ireland. The
address of its registered office is 76 Sir John Rogerson's Quay, Dublin 2, Dublin, Ireland

New standards and interpretations adopted during the year

There have been no new standards infroduced in the current period that have had a significant impact on the
Company.

Material accounting policies

The following accounting policies have been applied consistently in dealing with items which are considered material
in relation to the Company’s financial statements,

Statement of compliance and basis of preparation

These financial statements have been prapared in accordance with International Financial Reporing Standards
("IFRS™) and Irish statute comprising the Companies Act 2014, Accordingly, the Directors of the Company (the
"Directors”) have prepared these financial statements using accounting policies based on slandards and
interpretations applicable for the financial statements to be prepared for the pariod ended 31 December 2024,

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention,

Going concern

The Directors have prepared these financial staternents on a going concern basis which assumes that the Company
will cantinue in operational existence for the foreseeable future having adequate funds to meel obligations as they fall
due. The Direclors are salisfied thal this is appropriate.

Estimates and judgements

In preparing these financial statements, management has made judgements, estimates and assumplions that affect
the application of the Company’s accounting policies and the reported amounts of assels, liabilities, income and
expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimales.

Functional currency

Functional and presentational currency

These financial statements are presented in euro, which is the Company's functional currency.

Transactions and balances

Transactions in foreign currencies are transiated inte euro at the foreign exchange rafe ruling at the date of the
transaction. Non-monetary assels measured at histonc exchange rates are not subsequently retranslated. Monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign cumencies at the Statement of Financial Position date are translated to
euro at the foreign exchange rate ruling at that date, Foreign exchange differences arising on translation are
recagnised in the Income Statement,

Interest income and expense

Interest income on cash held on deposit is recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method. Expenses
are recognised on an accrual’s basis.

Page 13 of 28
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IQ EQ Fund Management (ireland) Limited

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (eontinuad)
1. Summary of significant accounting policies (continuad)
Fee and commission income

Fees and commissions are recognised on an accruals basis gross of any withholding tax suffered and net of rebates
when the service has been provided,

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depraciation and any accumulated impairment in
value. The initial cost of property and egquipment comprises its purchase price and other costs direcily atiributable in
bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its intended use.

Expendilure incurred after the property and equipmant have been pul into operation, such as repairs and
mainienance, ara normally charged to profil or [oss in the period in which the costs are incurred. In situations where it
can be clearly demonstrated thal the expenditure has resulted in an increase in the fulure economic benefits
expected to ba obtained from the use of an item of property and equipmant beyond its orginally assessed standard
of performance, the expenditure ks capitalized as additional costs of property and equipment.

Depreciation is charged so as to allocate the cost of assets less their residual values over their estimated useful lives
using the straight-line method, The useful lives of property and equipment (in years) are as follows:

Computer equipment - Jyears
Informaticn Technology Software - 10 years

The applicable uselul life and depreciation methads are reviewed percdically to ensure that the period and methad of
depreciation are consistent with the expected patlern of economic benefits from items of property and equipmeant.

When assets are retired or disposed of, the cost and the related accumulated depreciation and any impairment in
value are removed from the accounts and any resulting gain or [05s is credited or charged to current operations.

At the end of each reporting pernod, the Company assesses whether there is indication that assels held may be
impaired, If impairment is identified, the assel's recoverable amount is calculated, If recoverable amount is below the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised as an expense and depreciation adjusted for future periads.

Financial instruments
Mon-derivative financial assets
Classification of financial assets
The Company classifies its financial assets into those o be measured al amartised cost and those to be measured at
fair value (either through other comprehensive income, or through profit or loss), The dassification depends on the
Company's business model for managing financial assels and the contractual terms of the financial assels' cash
flows,
Financial assels af amortised cost
Financial assets are measured at amorised cost where they:

= have contractual terms thal give rise o cash flows on specified dates, that represent solely payments of

principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding,
= are hald within a business model whose objective is achieved by holding to callect confractual cash flows,
Both of these tests have to be mel in order to account for an instrument to be recognised at amortised cost. Financial
assets held at amortised cost include leans, cash and cash equivalents and trade and other receivables including

balances due from brokers and clients. The Company initially recognises loans and trade and other receivables on
the date that they are onginated,
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IQ EQ Fund Management (Ireland) Limited

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continuad)

1.  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

The Company derecognises a financial assel held al amortised cost when the confractual rights to the cash flows
from the asset expire, or it ransfers the righis to receive the confractual cash flows in a fransaction in which
substantially all the rnsks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred or it neither transfars nor
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and does not retain control over the transferred asset, Any
interest in such transfermed financial assets that is created or retained by the Company is recognised as a separate
assel or ability,

Leases

At inceplion of a confract, the Company assesses whether a contract is, or conlains, a lease, A conlract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in
exchange for consideration.

Where the Company is the lessee, leases are recognised as a right-of-use assel and a corresponding lease liability
at the date at which the leased assel is available for use by the Company. The right-of-use assal is initially measured
at cosl, which comprises the following:

+  the initial amouwnt of the lease lability adjusted for;

leaze payments made at or before the commencament date

plus any initial direct costs incurmed

plus any estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the
underlying asset or the site

o less any lease inceantives

(=]

L= =]

The right-of-use assel is subsequently depreciated on a siraight-line basis using the lease lerm. The lease liability is
initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are nol paid al commencement date, discounted
using the interest rate implicit in the lease.

Lease paymenis are allocated between the liability and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over
the lease perod so as to produce a constant pericdic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each
period. The right-of-use assel is deprecialed over the shorter of the asset's useful life and the lease termon a
straight-line basis

;Iash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash and demand deposits, and highly liquid investments that are convertible into
cash with an insignificant risk of changes in value with original maturities of less than three manths,

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity,

Dividends on ordinary shares

Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised in equity in the period in which they are approved by the Company's

shareholders or, in the case of intenim dividend, when it has been approved by the Board of Directars. Dividends
declared after the Statement of Financial Position date are disclosed in the notes,
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IQ EQ Fund Management (Ireland) Limited

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS [continued)

1. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Impairment
Mon-derivative financial assets
Financial assels measured al amortised cos!
The Company recognises expected credit [osses (ECLs') for financial assels measured at amortised cost
This approach reguires an enlity to recognise a loss allowance for expected credit losses on all debt type financial
assets that are not measured at fair value through profit or loss, this includes lease receivables, contract assels and
Ioan commifment and financial guarantee confracts to which the impairment requirements of IFRS 9 apply.
The ECL approach requires an expected credit loss allowance 1o be established upon initial recognition of an asset
reflecting the level of losses anticipated after having regard o the Company's historical credit loss experience and its
expectation of reasonable and supportable fulure economic conditions that incorporate mare forward-locking
infarmation.

The Company measures loss allowances al an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. The maximum period considered
when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which the Company is exposed to cradit risk.

All impairment losses are reviewed al least at each reporting date. Losses are recognised in profit or loss and
reflected in the bad debt provision against trade receivables. When an event occurs after the impairment is
recognised which causes the amount of impairment loss to decrease, the decrease in impairment [0ss 15 reversed
through profit or loss, This is further enhanced by specific provisions where this is deemed appropriate by
management.

Employee benefits

Short-ferm employee benefits

Short-lerm employee beneflit obligations are expensed as the related service is provided. A liability is recognised for
the amount expected to be paid if the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a
resull of past service provided by the emplayee, and the obligation can be estimated raliably,

Definad contabulion plans

Obligations for contributions to defined confribution plans are expensed as the related service is provided and

recagnised as retirement benefit costs in profit or loss. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent
that a cash refund or a reduction in future payments is available, There are no defined benefit pension arrangements.
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IQ EQ Fund Management (Ireland) Limited

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2. Revenie

Analysis of turnover is as follows:

Turnover analysed by class of business
Fee and commission income

Disaggregation of revanus from confracts with customers

For the Year Ended
31 December 2024

For the Year Ended
31 December 2023

€ 38,402,547

L 32 874 65T

In the following tables, revenue from contracts with customers is disaggregated by pnmary geographical market, main

business units and timing of revenue recognition:

Figures in €

For the Year Ended For the Year Ended

31 December 2024 3 December 2023
Analysis of turmover is as follows:
Turnover analysed by class of business
Fee and commission income € 38,402 547 € 32 874,657

Year Ended 31 Year Ended 31
December 2024 December 2023

Primary Geographical Market
Republic of Ireland 25804523 24187 524
Cayman 2578899 186,682
France 1,561,320 1,637,283
Italy 7.007.547 6,087,078
Portugal 75,001 107,000
Luxembourg 700,814 669,090
Jersey 468,108 -
South Africa 12,906 -
UK 38830 -
United States 62,600 -

€ 38,402,547 € 32,874,657

The Company's material revenues are eamed in the Republic of Ireland. Substantially all the Company’s asseis under

management are managed in Ireland.

For the Year Ended For the Year Ended
Motes 31 December 2024 3 December 2023
Directors” remuneration

- Salary, bonus, and Directors’ fees 1,135,870 1,221,640
- Contribution to pension schemes 28,305 27,900
Depreciation of fixed asset 49272 41816
Auditors” remuneration 47,000 41,100
€ 1,260,547 1,332,456
Page 17 af 28
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IQ EQ Fund Management (Ireland) Limited

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continuad)

3. Profit before taxation

Administration expenses can be broken down as follows:

For the Year Ended For the Year Ended
Notes 31 December 2024 3 December 2023
Parsonnel expenses 4 11,126,958 9.286,616
General and administrative expenses 18,461,195 13,885,162
Depreciation of fived asset 49272 41,816
€ 29,637,425 € 23,213,594
4, Personnel expenses
For the Year Ended For the Year Ended
31 December 2024 31 December 2023
Average number of parsons employed by the Company a2 T2
For the Year Ended For the Year Ended
31 December 2024 31 December 2023
Taotal remuneration amounted to:
Wages, salaries, bonus and other benefils 10,235,597 8,531,087
Social walfare cosls 891,361 755529
€ 11,126,958 € 9,286,616
5. Interest receivable and similar income
For the Year Ended For the Year Ended

Interest income wnder the effectrve interest method on:

31 December 2024

3 December 2023

- Interest recaivable on group infercompany balances 805,657 1,086,001
- Financial assets at amortised cost - 63
€ 805,657 € 1,086,064

Amounts due from intra group companies are unsecured, have no fixed date of repayment and are repayable on
demand. Interest is charged on group balances with a single counterparty in excess of an average balance of €1m in
the year, at a rate of 7.5% (2023: 7.5%). Interest receivable on group balances in 2024 totaled €805.65T (2023

recaived: €1,086.001).

222/344
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12 EQ Fund Management (Ireland) Limited

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

6. Interest payable and similar charges

For the Year Ended For the Year Ended

M December 2024 31 December 2023
Interest payable on group intercompany balances 896,602 -
interest expense & bank charges 31,920 6,732

€ 028,522 € 6,732

Amounts due to intra group companies are unsecured. have no fixed date of repayment and are repayable on
demand. Interest is charged on group balances with a single counterparty in excess of an average balance of €1m in
the year, at a rate of 7.5% (2023: 7.5%). Interest payable on group balances in 2024 totaled €856,602 (2023: €Nil).

7. Income taxes

a) Amounts recognised in profit or loss

For the Year Ended For the Year Ended
31 December 2024 31 December 2023
Corporale lax.
Charge for the year 1,064,340 1354710
Adjustment in respect of previous periods (98,034) (10,927
Tatal tax chargefcredit) for the peniod £ 966,315 € 1,343,783

b) Reconciliation of effective tax rate

The tax charge differs from the standard rate of tax, based on the standard rate of tax in Ireland. The differences are
explained as follows:

For the Year For the Year
Ended Ended
31 December 2024 31 December 2023
Prafit on ordinary activities before tax 8,514,754 10,837.677
Corporation tax rate of 12.5% (2023: 12.5%) € 1.064,349 € 1,354,710
Effects of:
Adjustrment in respect of previous periods (98,034) {10.827)
Total Corporation Tax charge/{credit) for the period € 966,315 € 1,243,783
¢) Factors that may affect future tax charges
There iz no material impact of Finance Act 2024 on the fulure tax charge of the business.
Page 19of 28
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1Q EQ Fund Management (Ireland) Limited

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

8. Trade and other recelvables

As at As at
Hote 31 December 2024 31 December 2023
Amounts falling due within one year

Amounts due from Group undertakings 17 13,049,808 20,757,322
Faes Recahable 7467538 5.926.188
Prepayments 740,924 672,829
Cumrent lax recenvable 276,563 -
Other receivable 39214 49314

€ 21,574,947 € 27,405,653

{a) Amounts due from group/parent underlakings are unsecured, have no fixed date of repayment and are repavable
on demand.

{b) The amocunts shown above are net of a provision of €127 463 (2023: €20,000) relating to the ECLs for trade
receivables in line with IFRS 9,

9. Cash and cash equivalents

As at As at
31 December 2024 31 December 2023
Cash on Demand € 9,052,998 € TA4367T21
€ 9,052,998 € T436,721

Cash and cash equivalents deposited with credit institutions in Ireland are regulated by the Cenfral Bank of Ireland.

10. Called up share capital

a) Share capital and share premium

As at As at
31 Decomber 2024 3 Decembor 2023

Authorised

10,000,000 (2023: 10,000,000) ordinary shares of €125 each € 12,500,000 € 12,500,000
Isswed and fully paid

2,924 000 (2023: 2,524,000) ordinary shares of €1.25 each 3,655,000 3,655,000
Called up share capital presented as equity € 3,655,000 € 3,655,000

The holders of ordinary voting shares are entitied o receive dividends and are entitied 1o one vole per share at
mealings of the Company and are entitied to their share of the Company's residual assets.
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IQ EQ Fund Management (Ireland) Limited

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

b) Dividends and distributions
As at As at
31 December 2024 31 December 2023

Dividends paid €15m (2023: €NIl) € 15,000,000 € .

Mo further dividends have been proposed or paid by directors in respect of the period.

11. Other undenominated capital

As at As at
31 December 2024 31 December 2023

Other undenominated capital € 2,072 € 2,072

Following on from the conversion of the Financial Statements to euro in 2001 the authorised and the allotted share
capital of the Company were redenominaied into euro in 2003, in accordance with seclion 25{3) of the Economic and
Monetary Union Act, 1988, The redenominated nominal par value of each share was redenominated as €1.25 each
reducing the issued share capital of the Company by €2,072. This has been transferred to a fund io be known as the
Capital Conversion Reserve Fund

12. Capital Contribution following merger by absorption
Davy Asset Managemenl Limited was merged by absorplion with the Company on the 29 November 2019, An
amount of €6,207 624 was recorded as a capital contribution, reflacting the net assets of Davy Asset Management
Limited. The capital contribution resarve of €6,207 624 is non-distributable.

13. Retirement benefits

The Company operates a defined contribution scheme which also covers the majority of employees and Executive
Darectors,

The total pension charge of the Company scheme for the period amounted to €472,497 (2023: €£388,155).

2 Directors paid into the scheme in 2024 (2023 2).
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1Q EQ Fund Management (Ireland) Limited

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continuad)

14. Property, Plant and Equipment

IT Softwane Total
Cost
Al 31 December 2022 62,948 62,948
Additions 397.500 397,500
Disposals - -
At 31 December 2023 € 460448 £ 460,448
Addiions - =
Disposal - -
At 31 December 2024 € 460448 € 460,448
Accumulated Amortisation
Al 31 December 2022 24,860 24 860
Charge for the period 41,816 41816
At 31 December 2023 66,676 66,676
Charge for the period 49272 49,272
At 31 December 2024 € 115948 &€ 115948
Met Book Value
Al ¥ December 2024 € 344500 € 344,500
At 31 December 2023 € 393,772 € 3Je3yT2
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1Q EQ Fund Management (Ireland) Limited

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS [continued)
15. Fimancial assets at amortised cost

Total
Cost
Al 31 December 2022 € 81,000
Purchases 35,000
Sales (126,000)

At 31 December 2023 € -
Purchases -
Sales -

At 31 December 2024 € .

On 28 April 2020, the Company and Pillarstone llaly SpA ("Pillarstong®™) enterad into a non-discretionary advisory
services agreement with respect o a new investment fund, RSCT Fund (the “Fund®). To meel the requirements of
the fund rules, as the Managemant Company and Alternative Invastmeant Fund Manager, the Company subscribad
to specific classes of units {1,000 A2 units and 400,000 B2 uniis) within the Fund. The 1,000 AZ unils with a nominal
value of €0.50 are fully paid up and recognised at their nominal value of €500 and 61,000 of the B2 units with a
nominal value of €100 are fully paid up o date and recognised al their nominal value of €51,000.

With regard to this investmant, the Company entered into an oplion agreemaent, on 12 May 2020, which granted PS5
Investmant Platform Ineland Limited (a Pilkarstone affiliate) a call option to acquire all, and no fewer than all, of the
Company's units in the Fund subject 1o specific criteria being mel. Per the agreement, the units in the Fund are nol
transferrable by the Company bafare the expiry of the fund term (31 December 2028), other than in the event of and
upon the aption being exercised, in which case the Company are entitled to repayment of their investment in the
units plus an additional payment of €5,000 par share class.,

In September 2021, an additional €20.000 was drawn down in the B2 units. In December 2021, Pillarsione exercised
their call option relating to the entirety of the A2 share class. On 30 December 2021, the Company recelved €5,500
for this (€500 relating to the initial investmeant and €5,000 relating 1o an addiional payment).

In March 2022 and December 2022, an additional €20,000 and €10,000 respectively was drawn down in tha B2 units.
In March 2023, an additional €35,000 was drawn down in tha B2 units. At the end of March 2023, Pillarstonge

reimbursed €126,000 from their iInvestment Advisory fee in the form of a back stop to enable them to take ownership
of these B2 unils. Consequently, the Company no longer has any economic interast in thase unils.

16. Trade and other payables

As at As at
Note 31 December 2024 3 December 2023
Armounts falling due within one year

Amounts due to Group undertakings 18 3841485 429585
Accrued expenses 2275542 1,993,410
Current tax payable - 1,010,953
Value Added Tax 31,529 13,472
Other creditors 931,567 445683

€ 7.080,103 € 3,893,083

a) Amounts due lo group/parant underakings are unsecured, have no fixed date of repayment and are repayable
on demand.
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12 EQ Fund Management (Ireland) Limited

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

17. Risk Management

The Company assumes a variety of rigks in its ordinary business activiies. The rizks which have bean identified by
the Senior Managemeant Team within the Company can be broadly classified under the following material risk

categonas:
= Credit risk
s Market risk
+  Liguidity risk

«  Operational risk

This nate explains the Company’s exposure to these financial risks, how they could affect the Company’s future
financial perormance, and how the Company measuses and manages thase risks.

a) Credit risk
As at As at
31 December 2024 31 December 2023
Cash and cash equivalent 9,052 998 7436721
Amounts due from Group undertakings 13,971,861 20,757 322
Other debtors 7,506,752 5975503

€ 30,531,611 € 34,169,546

This is the risk thal a customer or counterparty will be unable or unwilling to maet a commitment that it has entered
into and that the Company is unable to recover the full amount that it is owed. Credit risk is managed and confrolled
on the basis of established processes and procedures.

The Company is exposed o credit risk in respect of its cash balances and trade receivables amounting to €30.5m
{Dec 2023 €34.2m). The Company manages its credit risk in respect of bank deposits by placing funds with financial
institutions regulated by the Central Bank of Ireland. The exposure to credit risk in relation to the cash balances is
miznitored on a daily basis and in relation o the trade receivables on a monthly basis by the Company and by 1Q-EC
Group Finance.

As at the 31 December 2024, the credit exposure to AIB was €0m (Dec 2023: €0.341m) and HSBC was €9.052m
{Dec 2023: €7.096m). The S&P credit rating for AIB Group plc is BBB (Dec 2023 BEB) and HSBC is A+ (Dec 2023
At}

Credit risk exposure arising from client fees is limited to a large extent 85 the Company has a right under most client
contracts (o debit fees directly from client accounts as and when they fall due. In addition, aged deblors listings are
reviewed on a regular basis by the Company and the 1Q-EQ Group Finance team, with procedures in place to ensure
they are followed up in & timely manner.

The carmrying value of certain financial assets representing the maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date
iz st out below:
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1Q EQ Fund Management (Ireland) Limited

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
17. Risk Management {continued)
a) Credit risk {continued)
An analysis of trade and other receivables al the reporting date by relevant category of counterparty is set out below;

As at Asat
31 December 2024 31 December 2023

Institutional brokers and clients 7467538 5,926,188
Other debtors 38214 49,314
Due from parent undertaking 13,045,908 20,757 322

€ 20,556 660 € 26,732,824

An aged analysis of rade and other recaivables al the reporting date is set oul below;

As 3t December 2024 As 3l December 2023
Net recahable Impairment provision  Melt recehable Impairment provision
Mot past due or impaired 1,186,168 - 2061431 -
Past gue 0 - 30 days 2051475 - 1555427 -
FPastdue 1 -6 months 4067 539 - 2316678 =
Past due & months - 1 year 328,047 - 60,842 -
More than 1 year 28,576 127,463 1125 20,000
T.661,805 127463 5,995,503 20,000

The Caompany recognises expacted loss allowancas for axpected credit lossas ("ECLE") for financial assels at
amartised cost. Loss allowances for irade receivables and confract assels are always measured al an amount equal
to the lifetime ECLs.

Expocted credit loss assessment for individual customers

Irs lime with the adoption of IFRS 9 all financial assets measured at amortised cost were raviewed including amounts
due from clients, cash and cash equivalents and broker margins.

Trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired refate mainly 1o management fees that are recaived one
manth in arrears,

Outstanding receivables are considared separately. Exposuras are calculated with refarence to the amount of the
underlying customer account. Expected loss amounis are based on ageing and historic axpanence and expacted
future outcomes in callecling outstanding receivables, which differs by business unil. The total amount of individually
Impaired assets under the "expeciled loss® approach at the peried-end was €127 463 (Dec 2023: €20,000).

Trade receivables are managed and controlled using well defined policies and procedures, which are managed and
raviewed, within the Company and Group Finance deparimant. Deblors are managed appropriately and wrile downs

to the management accounts ara recognised when and if required. Trade receivables aged over 30 days are closely
manitored. Outstanding debtars amount t5 €7 .5m as at 31 December 2024 (Dec 2023: €6.0m).
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1Q EQ Fund Management (Ireland) Limited

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
17. Risk Management {continued)
b) Ligquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company may be unable to meet the payment obligations asscciated with its financial
liahilities that are settled by defivering cash and ofher financial assels.

The objective of liquidity risk management is to ensure thal, at all imes, the Company holds sufficient funds to meet
its contracted and contingent commitments to its customers and counterparties.

The Company has access io cash deposits of €9,052,998 (2023: €7 436,721).
c)  Market risk

Market risk embodies the potential for both losses and gains and includes curmency risk, price risk and interest rate
rigk. The objective of marke! Fisk managemant s 1o manage and control marked risk exposures within acceptable
parameters.

Foreign currency nsk
Foraign currency ek is the rgk thal movemants in foreign currency exchange rates will have a nagative impact on
the Company's lumover and profit or loss.

There are procedures in place 1o ensure foreign currency exposunes are managed and monitored.

The Company mitigates its limited foredgn currency exchange rale risk by ensuring, insofar as possible, that both
financial assets and liabilities are denominated in matching currencies.

Price nisk

Price risk is tha risk thal the value of a financial instrument will flucluate as a resull of changes in markel prices,
whether caused by factors specific to an individual investment, its Issuer or other factors affecting all instruments
traded in the markeat.

At 31 December 2024 the Company did not hold any investments exposead to price risk.

Interest rate nsk
The Company is subject 1o axposure to inlerest rate ek on Cash and cash eguivalents and amounts due from parent
companies due to fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market interast rates.

The interest rate risk profile of the Company's iflerest bearing assets and liabilities as al the statement of financial
pasition date was as follows:

Fixed Rate Interest Fixed Rate Interest

Assets Lisbiliies o
Intarest rabe risk profile al 31 December 2024
Cash and cash squivalents 9,052 908 - 9,052 998
Amounts due from Group underiakings 13,045,908 - 13,045,908
Amounts due 10 Group undenakings - {3.841.465) {3.841,465)

€ 22102006 € (3841,465) 18,261,441

Fixed Rabe Intarest Fixed Rate Interest

Assets Liabilitias Toml
Intarest rate risk profide at 31 December 2023
Cash and cash equivalents TA36T21 - 7436721
Amounts due from Group underiakings 20757322 - 20,757 322
€ 28,154,043 £ . i 28,194,043

Other financial azsets of the Company not included in the above table are nol interest bearing and therefore not
subject to intarast rate risk.
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1Q EQ Fund Management (Ireland) Limited

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (eontinued)
17. Risk Managemaent [continued)
d} Operaticnal risk

Operational risk is deemed to be the risk of direct or indirect boss arising from a wide variety of causes associated
with the Company's processes, personnel, technofogy and infrastructure, and from external factors other than credit
and markel risks such as those arising from legal and regulatory requirements and generally accepted standards of
corporate behaviouwr. Operational risks arise from all the Company’s operations.

The cbjective of the Company is to manage operational risk so as lo balance the avoidance of financial losses and
damage 1o the Company’s reputation with overall cost effectiveness. The primary responsibility for the development
and implemeniation of controls to address operational risk is assigned to senior management.

This respoensibility is supported by the development of overall Company standards for the management of operational
risk in the following areas:

« Requirement for appropriate segregation of duties, including the independent autharisation of fransactions
=  Requirement for the reconciliation and monitoring of transactions

* Compliance with regulatory and other legal requirements

+ Documeniation of controls and procedures

= Reqguirement for the reporting of operational losses and proposed remedial action
= Development of conlingency plans

= Training and professional develspment

« Ethical and business standards

« Risk mitigation, including Insurance where this is effective

«  Business confinuity and disaster planning

=  [nformation security including cyber related risk

+« Conduct and suitability risk

Compliance with these standards is supported by & programme of ongaoing review by senior management, supported
by the Company's Risk and Compliance teams, |Q-EQ Group Internal Audit and independent control functions within
the 10-EQ Group.

18. Ownership and related party transactions

The Company is a subsidiary of Green Bay Acquisitions Limited, a company incorporated in Ireland.

12 EQ Fund SCSp was considerad collectively by the Board to be the ultimate controlling party at 31 December 2024
and 31 December 2023,

Within the IQ-EQ Group consolidated financial statemeants are prepared for Saphilux Sarl the results of which include
the Company. This is the largest and smallest group the Company'’s results are consclidated in. Saphilux Sard has its
registered office at 412F, route d'Esch, L-2086 Luxembourg R.C.5. Luxembourg B201044, Saphilux Sarl is controlled
by I3 EQ Fund SCSp.

Al 31 December 2024, the Company was due an amount of €13,0489 908 comprised of.

As at As at
31 December 2024 31 December 2023
Green Bay Acquisitions Limited 5,853,214 1.916,591
IQ EQ Corporate Services (Holdings) Limited 4407157 18,223,924
12 EQ Corporate Services (IRE) Limited 1,539,134 496,228
SAPHILUX Sarl 1,250,403 120,579
€ 13,049,908 € 20,757,322
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1Q EQ Fund Management (Ireland) Limited
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (eontinued)
18. Ownership and related party transaction (continuad)

At 31 December 2024, the Company owed an amount of €3,841 485 comprised of:

As al As at

31 December 2024 31 December 2023
10 EQ Group Management (10M Lid) 32506T 94,738
10 EQ Administration Sendces (UK) 263,829 334827
10 EQ Fund Senvices (Ireland) Limited 272147 .
SAPHILUYX Sarl 45,803 -
10 EQ MaxComply Limited 15 =

€ 3,841,465 € 429,565

During the period an amount of €1.3m was settled by Saphiux Sarl on behalf of the Company in relation to post
acquisition costs which have been met by the group to nermalisa the underying company position.

The Company defines its key managemant personnel as the members of the Board and executive management.
All key management personnel ane members of the Board and compensation for the period comprised the following:

For the Year Ended For the Year Ended
Notes 31 December 2024 3 December 2023
Directors’ remuneration

- Salary, bonus, and Directors’ fees 1,135970 1,221,640
- Contribution to pension schemes 28,305 27,900
€ 1,164,275 € 1,249,540

Dwring the period, the Company granted Nil share options (2024: Nil) to key management personnel as part of the
2024 annual performance related awards.

19. Subsequent events

There are no subsequent events after the reporling date identified that provided evidence of conditions that existed at
the reporting date (adjusting events aftar tha reporting date) and that were indicative of conditions that arose after the
reporting dale (non-adjusting events after the reperting date).

20. Approval of financial statements

The Directors approved the Financial Statements on 28 April 2025,
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Report of independent auditors

To FirstCaribbean International Bank and Trust Company (Cayman) Limited solely in
its capacity as trustee of Daiwa Blackstone Private Credit Fund

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Daiwa Blackstone Private Credit Fund (a series
trust of Daiwa World Fund Series) (the "Series Trust"), which comprise the statement of assets and liabilities,
including the schedule of investments, as of 31 December 2023, and the related statements of operations, of

changes in net assets, and of cash flow for the period from 31 May 2023 (commencement of operations) to
31 December 2023, including the related notes (collectively referred to as the "financial statements").

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the Series Trust as of 31 December 2023, and the results of its operations, changes in its net
assets, and its cash flows for the period from 31 May 2023 (commencement of operations) to 31 December
2023 in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America (US GAAS). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in theAuditors’
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We are required to be
independent of the Series Trust and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant
ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Responsibilities of management for the financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the design,
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or
events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Series Trust's ability to continue
as a going concern for one year after the date the financial statements are available to be issued.
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Report of independent auditors (continued)

To FirstCaribbean International Bank and Trust Company (Cayman) Limited solely in its
capacity as trustee of Daiwa Blackstone Private Credit Fund

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with US GAAS will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a
substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a
reasonable user based on the financial statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with US GAAS, we:

Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Series Trust's internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the
financial statements.

Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that
raise substantial doubt about the Series Trust’'s ability to continue as a going concern for a
reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related matters
that we identified during the audit.
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Report of independent auditors (continued)

To FirstCaribbean International Bank and Trust Company (Cayman) Limited solely in its
capacity as trustee of Daiwa Blackstone Private Credit Fund

Other matter

This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for and only for FirstCaribbean International Bank and
Trust Company (Cayman) Limited solely in its capacity as trustee of the Series Trust in accordance with the
terms of our engagement letter and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving this opinion, accept or assume
responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it
may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Cayman lIslands
31 May 2024
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Report of independent auditors

To CIBC Caribbean Bank and Trust Company (Cayman) Limited solely in its capacity
as trustee of Daiwa Blackstone Private Credit Fund

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Daiwa Blackstone Private Credit Fund (a series
trust of Daiwa World Fund Series) (the "Series Trust"), which comprise the statement of assets and liabilities,
including the schedule of investments, as of 31 December 2024, and the related statements of operations, of

changes in net assets, and of cash flow for the year then ended, including the related notes (collectively
referred to as the "financial statements").

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the Series Trust as of 31 December 2024, and the results of its operations, changes in its net
assets, and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America (US GAAS). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We are required to be
independent of the Series Trust and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant
ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Responsibilities of management for the financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the design,
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or
events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Series Trust's ability to continue
as a going concern for one year after the date the financial statements are available to be issued.
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Report of independent auditors (continued)

To CIBC Caribbean Bank and Trust Company (Cayman) Limited solely in its capacity as
trustee of Daiwa Blackstone Private Credit Fund

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with US GAAS will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a
substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a
reasonable user based on the financial statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with US GAAS, we:

Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include

examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Series Trust's internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the
financial statements.

Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that
raise substantial doubt about the Series Trust's ability to continue as a going concern for a
reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related matters
that we identified during the audit.

Other matter

This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for and only for CIBC Caribbean Bank and Trust
Company (Cayman) Limited solely in its capacity as trustee of the Series Trust in accordance with the terms
of our engagement letter and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving this opinion, accept or assume
responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it
may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.
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Report of independent auditors (continued)

To CIBC Caribbean Bank and Trust Company (Cayman) Limited solely in its capacity as
trustee of Daiwa Blackstone Private Credit Fund

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Cayman lIslands
29 May 2025

339/344



EDINETOOOO
OO0O00OO00o0DO000DO000D00o0bDO000DOoOdnoo(esss30)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

1Q EQ

1Q EQ
2024 12 31

2014

20

2014 1ASB
IFRS

ISA

12

2014

340/344



EDINETOOOO
OO0O00OO00o0DO000DO000D00o0bDO000DOoOdnoo(esss30)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

1SA
(guarantee)

1AASA
https://iaasa.ie/publications/description-of-the-auditors-responsibilities-for-the-audit-of-the-financial-
statements

2014

2014 28
2014

2014

2014 391

29

2025 28

341/344



EDINETOOOO
OO0O00OO00o0DO000DO000D00o0bDO000DOoOdnoo(esss30)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF
IQ EQ FUND MANAGEMENT (IRELAND) LIMITED

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion on the financial statements of IQ EQ Fund Management (Ireland) Limited (“the company”)
In our opinion the financial statements:

give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities and financial position of the company as at 31
December 2024 and of the profit for the financial year then ended; and

have been properly prepared in accordance with the relevant financial reporting framework and, in
particular, with the requirements of the Companies Act 2014.

The financial statements we have audited comprise:

the Statement of Comprehensive Income;

the Statement of Financial Position;

the Statement of Changes in Equity;

the Statement of Cash Flow; and

the related notes 1 to 20, including material accounting policy information as set out in note 1.

The relevantfinancial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is the Companies Act
2014 and IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and
as adopted by the European Union (“the relevant financial reporting framework”).

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (Ireland) (ISAs (Ireland)) and
applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are described below in the “Auditor's
responsibilities for the auditof the financial statements” section of our report.

We are independent of the company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit
of the financial statements in Ireland, including the Ethical Standardissued by the Irish Auditingand Accounting
Supervisory Authority, and we have fulfiled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements. We believe that the auditevidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern
In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of
accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the company’s abilityto continue as a
goingconcern for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for
issue.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the
relevant sections of this report.

Other information

The otherinformation comprises the information includedin the Directors’ Report and Audited Financial
Statements, other than the financial statements and our auditor's report thereon. The directors are responsible
for the other information contained within the Directors’ Report and Audited Financial Statements. Our opinion
on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly
stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
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Our responsibility is to read the otherinformation and, in doing so, consider whetherthe other information is
materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material
misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material misstatement in the financial
statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of directors

As explainedmore fully in the Directors' Responsibilities Statement, the directors are responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view and otherwise
comply with the Companies Act 2014, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the company’s abilityto
continue as a goingconcern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concernand using the going
concernbasis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the company or to cease operations,
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with ISAs (Ireland) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on IAASA’s
website at: https://iaasa.ie/publications/description-of-the-auditors-responsibilities-for-the-audit-of-the-financial-
statements. This description forms part of our auditor's report.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2014
Based solely on the work undertaken in the course of the audit, we report that:

We have obtained all the information and explanations which we consider necessary for the purposes
of our audit.

In our opinion the accounting records of the company were sufficient to permit the financial statements
to be readily and properly audited.

The financial statements are in agreement with the accounting records.

In our opinion the information given in the directors’ report is consistent with the financial statements.

In our opinion, those parts of the directors’ report specified for our review, which does not include
sustainability reporting when required by Part 28 of the Companies Act 2014, have been prepared in
accordance with the Companies Act 2014.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
Based on the knowledge and understanding of the company and its environment obtained in the course of the
audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the directors' report.

We have nothing to report in respect of the provisions in the Companies Act 2014 whichrequire us to report to
you if, in our opinion, the disclosures of directors’ remuneration and transactions specified by law are not
made.
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IQ EQ Fund Management (Ireland) Limited

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF
IQ EQ FUND MANAGEMENT (IRELAND) LIMITED

Use of our report

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Section 391 of the
Companies Act 2014. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members
those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's report and for no other purpose.To the fullest
extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the
company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Jim Meegan

For and on behalf of Deloitte Ireland LLP

Chartered Accountants and Statutory Audit Firm
Deloitte & Touche House,29 arlsfort Terrace,Dublin 2

28 April 2025
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